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Survey of key data

Raiffeisen Bak Kosovo JSC 2006 2005 Change 
  Monetary values are in €mn

Income Statement 1/1 – 31/12  1/1 – 31/12

Net interest income after provisioning 22.9  17.7 28.9%

Net commission income  4.0  2.9 37.7%

Trading profit  0.8  0.4 98.8%

General administrative expenses  (14.5) (12.6) 15.1%

Profit before tax  13.3  8.7 53.2%

Profit after tax  10.8  6.9 56.8%

Consolidated profit (without minorities)  10.8  6.9 56.2%

Earnings per share  N/a   N/a   N/a 

Balance Sheet 31/12 31/12 

Loans and advances to banks  108.1  68.8 57.1%

Loans and advances to customers  228.5  169.2 35.7%

Deposits from banks  13.8  10.8 28.4%

Deposits from customers  310.0  226.2 37.1%

Equity (incl. minorities and profit)  44.2  23.4 102.0%

Balance-sheet total  376.4  263.9 42.6%

Regulatory information   

Risk-weighted assets, incl. market risk  253.3  188.6 34.3%

Total own funds  33.4  16.6 102.0%

Total own funds requirement  20.3  15.1 34.3%

Excess cover ratio 118.1% 55.3% 113.4%

Core capital ratio (Tier 1), banking book 13.0% 8.8% 47.1%

Core capital ratio (Tier 1), incl. market risk 12.8% 8.7% 46.6%

Own funds ratio 12.8% 8.7% 46.6%

Performance   

Return on equity (ROE) before tax 45.2% 52.2% -13.3%

Return on equity (ROE) after tax 36.8% 41.4% -11.3%

Consolidated return on equity (without minorities) 36.8% 41.4% -11.3%

Cost/income ratio 46.3% 56.2% -17.6%

Return on assets (ROA) before tax 3.5% 3.3% 7.3%

“Net provisioning ratio  
  (average risk-weighted assets in banking book)” 3.0% 2.5% 19.8%

Risk/earnings ratio 13.8% 5.7% 141.7%

Resources   

Number of staff (FTE) 440  354  24.3%

Business outlets 32  28  14.3%
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I am pleased to announce on behalf of the Supervisory Board that we are very 
satisfied with the outstanding results Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo achieved during 
2006. The Bank managed to maintain its position as the second-largest bank in the 
market with significant growth in the key financial reporting figures. For the third 
successive year, Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo remained the most profitable commercial 
bank in Kosovo, having a market share of 43.5% in terms of Net Income after tax.

The economic situation in Kosovo improved only slightly in 2006, as the Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP) and GDP per capita showed and increase compared to 
the previous year. Inflation was stable but there was a further increase in registered 
unemployment and in the trade deficit. 

The banking market in Kosovo was characterised by significant development, 
especially in respect of total assets, loans and overdrafts as well as deposits. 
Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo followed this growth closely and managed to achieve 
outstanding results, not least regarding market share. Its balance sheet total 

represents 34% of the banking sector’s total assets. This is an increase of 5 percentage points on 
2005. The market share in lending grew to 38.2%, which is 3 percentage points more than in 2005. 
An increase of 5 percentage points in market share was also recorded on the deposit side.

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo continued to play an important role in the local banking market by offering 
a wide range of products and services to all business segments. It is important to emphasise that it 
continued to be very active in financing businesses. A particular success was achieved in overall 
lending to small and medium-sized enterprises (SME) resulting in a 35% market share in this customer 
segment, or 6 percentage points more than in 2005. In addition, Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo provided 
significant support to corporate customers, not only in the area of loans and deposits but also in the 
ongoing privatisation of state-owned enterprises and further development of these businesses. 

These outstanding results stem from the efforts and high level of professionalism of both employees 
and management of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo. Therefore, I take this opportunity to thank all the 
Bank’s employees and its Management Board for their hard work and commitment. Also, I thank our 
customers for their trust in Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo. We are looking forward to further fruitful 
co-operation in the future!

Heinz Hödl
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com
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On behalf of the Management Board, it is a great pleasure for me to report another 
successful year for Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo. Our aim was to continue our sustainable 
development by offering competitive banking products and services to all our customers: 
individuals, small, medium and large businesses. It enabled us to reinforce our position 
in the market and improve further our key performance indicators.  

Total assets of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo marked a significant increase from €264 million 
to €376 million, which is more than 40% increase in one year. The lending balances 
increased from €169 million to €230 million (which is nearly 36% increase from 2005). 
On the other hand, total customers’ deposits grew by 37% to €310 million. Profit after 
tax was also a record at €10.8 million. We ended the year with capital of €33 million, 
making us the best capitalised bank in Kosovo. Being a 100% owned subsidiary of 
Raiffeisen International Bank Holding AG and being so well capitalised helped us 
develop secure savings products and actively lend to companies that are helping Kosovo 
develop. 

All customer segments contributed to the outstanding financial performance. There was a significant 
development of our retail banking activities. The Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) segment managed 
to increase total outstanding loans to €125.8 million, which is 20% higher than at the end of the previous 
year. The highest growth was achieved with SME deposits which rose by 61% during 2006, to €34.6 
million. In the Private Individuals (PI) segment, the total loan portfolio reached above €47.8 million which 
is a 39% increase compared with last year’s results. There was also an increase of PI deposits by 47% to 
€183.2 million.

The corporate segment also recorded outstanding results in 2006. The total loans grew by 89% to €56.2 
million when compared to the previous year. Corporate deposits increased by almost 15% to €92 million. 

During 2006, in addition to the existing VISA Classic and Electron Cards, the Bank started to issue to 
its customers the alternative international cards, MasterCard and Maestro. The extension of the branch 
network, increase of ATM and POS numbers continued in 2006 as well. The Bank launched 15 year term 
mortgage loans for the first time in the banking market. E-banking was also introduced as a new service for 
customers. 

Finally, we cannot look back on a year of significant progress without recognising the commitment and 
excellent performance of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo staff. By investing in a careful selection process and 
substantial training programs we have a highly qualified staff able to handle the increased workload and 
our customer demands for high service standards and a good range of products. Therefore, I would like to 
thank them all for their great work during 2006. I am also grateful to our customers for the trust they have 
placed in our Bank. Together, we will be looking forward to further progress in 2007.

Oliver J Wittle
Chairman of the Management Board

Introduction 
by the Chairman of the Management Board
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The Management Board

Management Board

Oliver J Whittle
Chairman of Management Board

Gary Moinette
Member of Management Board

http://www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com
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Organisational Structure

Organisational Structure 
of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo

Oliver Whittle

Chairman of Management Board
CEO

Support Services

Asdren Rrahmani

Marketing and Public Relations

Shukri Mustafa

Operations

Etnik Kabashi

IT and Communications

Arta Celina

Human Resources / Training

Lirije Osaj

Legal and Compliance

Fisnik Kepuska

Audit

Visar Perani

Risk and Credit Management

Osvelda Qafa

Financial Controlling and Accounting Gary Moinette

Management Board Member
Head of Customer Business

Njomza Buxhovi

Customer Service

Shpend Nura

Card Business

Merita Gjushinca

Distribution Channels

Diana Berisha

Product Management and Development

Ramis Ahmetaj

Corporate Banking
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Vision 

To be the leading universal bank in Kosovo.

Mission

To develop long term relationship with our customers by providing a range of competitive products 
and a high standard of service. 

To develop our staff through on-the-job training, courses and participation in management 
development projects.

Vision and Mission

Vision and Mission
of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo

http://www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com
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The RZB Group and 
Raiffeisen International  

at a glance

The RZB Group and Raiffeisen International 

www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Raiffeisen	Bank	Kosovo	J.S.C. is a member of the RZB Group and 100% subsidiary of Raiffeisen	
International	Bank-Holding	AG. Raiffeisen International in turn is a fully consolidated subsidiary of 
Vienna-based Raiffeisen	Zentralbank	Österreich	AG	(RZB). RZB is the parent company of the RZB 
Group and the central institution of the Austrian Raiffeisen	Banking	Group, the country’s largest 
banking group by total assets with the widest local distribution network.

Founded in 1927, RZB provides the full range of commercial and investment banking services in 
Austria and is regarded a pioneer in Central and Eastern Europe (CEE). It ranks among the region’s 
leading banks, offering commercial, investment and retail banking services in the following markets:

• Albania	 	 	 Raiffeisen	Bank	Sh.a.
• Belarus	 	 	 Priorbank,	OAO
• Bosnia and Herzegovina	 Raiffeisen	Bank	d.d.	Bosna	i	Hercegovina
• Bulgaria 	 	 Raiffeisenbank	(Bulgaria)	EAD
• Croatia	 	 	 Raiffeisenbank	Austria	d.d.
• Czech Republic	 	 Raiffeisenbank	a.s.	and	eBanka,	a.s.
• Hungary		 	 Raiffeisen	Bank	Zrt.
• Kosovo	 	 	 Raiffeisen	Bank	Kosovo	J.S.C.
• Poland	 	 	 Raiffeisen	Bank	Polska	S.A.
• Romania		 	 Raiffeisen	Bank	S.A.
• Russia	 	 	 ZAO	Raiffeisenbank	Austria	and	OAO	Impexbank
• Serbia	 	 	 Raiffeisen	banka	a.d.
• Slovakia		 	 Tatra	banka,	a.s.
• Slovenia		 	 Raiffeisen	Krekova	banka	d.d.
• Ukraine	 	 	 VAT	Raiffeisen	Bank	Aval

Raiffeisen International Bank-Holding AG acts as these banks’ steering company, owning the majority 
of shares (in most cases 100 or almost 100%). Furthermore, many finance leasing companies 
(including one in Kazakhstan) are part of the Raiffeisen International Group. Raiffeisen International 
is a fully-consolidated subsidiary of RZB. Following the largest IPO in Austria’s history in April 2005, 
RZB remains Raiffeisen International’s majority shareholder owning 70% of the capital stock. The 
remaining 30% is free-float, owned by institutional and retail investors.

At the end of 2006, 2,848 business outlets covered the CEE-region, and over 52,700 employees 
served more than 12.1 million customers.

As of 31 December 2006, Raiffeisen International’s balance-sheet total amounted to €55.9 billion, 
up 37% compared with December 2005. Consolidated profit for the period (after minorities and 
excluding one-off effects) according to IFRS	came to €594 million, an increase of 55% compared 
with the same period of 2005. Including the one-off effects due to the sale of Raiffeisenbank	Ukraine	
and of the stake in Kazakh	Bank	TuranAlem, consolidated profit reached €1.18 billion. The return on 
equity (ROE) before tax excluding the one-off effects stated above reached 27.3% (up 5.5 percentage 
points), and the cost/income ratio improved by 2.5 percentage points to 59.1%. Including the one-off 
effects, the ROE before tax reached 45.4 percent.

As of year-end 2006, the RZB Group’s balance sheet total amounted to €115.6 billion, up 23% 
compared with December 2005. IFRS-compliant profit before tax amounted to €1,882 million, an 

http://www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com
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increase of 102%, including the above-mentioned one-off effects. Return on equity before tax improved 
by 2.8 percentage points to 26.7% without one-off effects, this is once more one of the best ratios 
reported by any major Austrian bank. The cost/income ratio improved again to 56.7% (minus 2.2 
percentage points). At the reporting date, the Group employed a staff of more than 55,400 worldwide.

In addition to its banking operations – which are complemented by representative offices in Lithuania 
(Vilnius), Moldova (Chisinau) and Russia (Moscow) – RZB runs several specialist companies in CEE 
offering solutions, among others, in the areas of M&A, real estate development, fund management, 
leasing and mortgage banking.

In Western Europe and the USA, RZB operates a branch in London and representative offices in 
New York, Brussels, Frankfurt, Milan, Paris and Stockholm. A finance company in New York (with 
representative offices in Chicago and Houston) and a subsidiary bank in Malta complement the scope. 
In Asia, RZB runs branches in Beijing (with a representative office in Zhuhai) and Singapore as well as 
representative offices in Ho Chi Minh City, Hong Kong, Mumbai, Tehran and Seoul. This international 
presence clearly underlines the bank’s emerging markets strategy.

RZB is rated as follows:

• Standard & Poor’s Short-term A1
• Standard & Poor’s Long-term A+
• Moody’s Short-term P-1
• Moody’s Long-term A1
• Moody’s Financial Strength C+

www.rzb.at, www.ri.co.at

The RZB Group and Raiffeisen International 
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Gable Cross
The international Raiffeisen logo is the Gable Cross. It consists of two stylised crossed horses’ heads and 
can be traced back hundreds of years to European folk traditions. It is a symbol of defense against evil 
and life’s dangers and can still be found on rural houses in Central Europe. According to their founder’s 
objectives, Raiffeisen’s members have safeguarded themselves against economic hazards by uniting 
within the cooperative and therefore chose the Gable Cross as an emblem of protection under a shared 
roof. The logo has developed into an internationally well-known and very positively associated trademark 
and is in use around the world.

Raiffeisen Banking Group
The Raiffeisen Banking Group (RBG) is Austria’s largest banking group by total assets. As per year-end 
2006, RBG’s consolidated balance-sheet total amounted to € 205.4 billion. It represents about a quarter 
of all domestic banking business and comprises the country’s largest banking network with more than 
2,250 offices (nearly 44 per cent of all banking outlets in Austria) and some 22,000 employees. RBG 
consists of Raiffeisen Banks on the local level, Regional Raiffeisen Banks on the provincial level and RZB 
as central institution. RZB also acts as the “link” between its international operations and RBG. Raiffeisen 
Banks are private cooperative credit institutions, operating as general service retail banks. Each 
province’s Raiffeisen Banks are owners of the respective Regional Raiffeisen Bank, which in their entirety 
own approximately 88 per cent of RZB’s ordinary shares.

The Raiffeisen Banks go back to an initiative of the German social reformer Friedrich Wilhelm Raiffeisen 
(1818 - 1888), who, by founding the first cooperative banking association in 1862, has laid the 
cornerstone of the global organisation of Raiffeisen cooperative societies. Only 10 years after the 
foundation of the first Austrian Raiffeisen banking cooperative in 1886, already 600 savings and loan 
banks were operating according to the Raiffeisen system throughout the country. According to Raiffeisen’s 
fundamental principle of self-help, the promotion of their members’ interests is a key objective of their 
business policies.

Raiffeisen International
Raiffeisen International Bank-Holding AG is a fully consolidated subsidiary of RZB. It acts as the steering 
company for the RZB Group’s subsidiaries in Central and Eastern Europe, above all the Group’s banking 
and leasing units. RZB is Raiffeisen International’s majority shareholder owning 70 per cent of the capital 
stock. The remaining 30 per cent is free-float, owned by institutional and retail investors. Raiffeisen 
International’s shares are traded on the Vienna Stock Exchange.

RZB        
Raiffeisen Zentralbank Österreich AG (RZB) is the central institution of the Austrian Raiffeisen Banking 
Group. Founded in 1927 and domiciled in Vienna, RZB is the third-largest Austrian bank and a specialist 
in commercial and investment banking. As the parent company of the RZB Group, it ranks among Central 
and Eastern Europe’s leading banking groups, offering the full scope of commercial, investment and retail 
banking services practically throughout the region.

RZB Group
The group owned and steered by RZB. Raiffeisen International forms one of the Group’s main units, 
acting as holding and steering company for the network of banks and leasing companies in Central and 
Eastern Europe.

Raiffeisen-Glossary

Raiffeisen-Glossary

http://www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com
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The year 2006 saw a contrast to 2005 with the start of the new political process on the definition 
of the future status of Kosovo. The process is expected to end in 2007 and it is an important one for 
both Kosovo and the region. 

Kosovo economy during 2006 was characterised by an increase in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 
and by further increases in Registered Unemployment and the Trade Deficit. 

GDP information

The GDP figures were revised again this year and a few changes were noticed in comparison to the 
prior periods. Both the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and GDP per capita saw a slight increase of 
1.4% and -0.3%, respectively compared to the previous year.

GDP comparison

The Macroeconomic Environment
in Kosovo
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The Consumer Price Index (CPI) showed a slight increase for 2006, indicating a stable economic 
situation given that the Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices in the eurozone was calculated to be 
around 1.9% in December 2006.
 

CPI

Unemployment is an important factor in the Kosovo economy. Based on the official data, the 
registered unemployment figure increased by 2% or 6,000 during 2006. There are no official data 
on the unemployment rate and therefore reliable or accurate data are missing. The ratio of the 
unemployed to the total population (population data is also estimated as there has been no official 
registration since 1981). It is calculated to have been 16% at the end of 2006 (December 2005: 
16%).

Registered unemployment
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Trade Balance

During 2006, Kosovo exports were valued at €79.2 million and imports at €1,314.5 million. 
Therefore, the deficit is calculated to be €1,235.3 million, which is nearly 54% of the GDP. The 
same percentage of deficit versus GDP has grown from 28% in 2001 at a positive rate and this trend 
is expected to continue. Kosovo’s main activity is related to trading, which explains the continuing 
negative trade balance for 2006.

The main imports were food, leather, minerals, machinery and transport (mainly second-hand 
vehicles), while exports were mainly base metals and other minerals. The latter now represent 20% of 
the total volume, increased from 6% in 2005. 

Total governmental revenues amounted to €713.2 million or 11.2% higher than in 2005, while the 
respective expenditures were €635.7 million, giving a surplus of €77.5 milion. 

During 2006, there were ten waves of privatisation and there are only a few waves remaining to be 
launched during 2007.

Trade balance

Source:	Central	Banking	Authority	of	Kosovo,	Statistical	Buletin	of	December	2006,	January	and	February	2007.
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Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo has continued to increase its total assets base in 2006 by 42.6% more or 
€113 million. The market share was calculated to be more than 34% up from 29% in 2005, which 
represents another 5 percentage points increase (In 2005 the increase of the market share was 8 
percentage points). The Credit Bank of Prishtina is included in the 2005 calculations: the market 
share of this bank before the close of business activity was around 5%.

Note:	The	analysis	is	based	on	audited	figures	for	the	market.	

Total Assets

Total Assets Market Share - December 2006
Year-to-year, the range of the lending products offered by Raiffeisen 
Bank Kosovo has increased. Customers were segmented based on 
their specific turnover or other criteria and the products were tailored 
to suit the customers’ needs. In addition to a customer focus, which 
is considered a very important aspect of our work, this process has 
contributed to the Bank being less reliant on one lending product or 
customer segment. 

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo           Overview
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Total Loans and Overdrafts

Loans and Overdrafts Market Share - December 2006
The Loan and Overdraft portfolio increased further in 2006. The balance 
increased by 35.7% or €60 million in comparison to 2005 and the 
market share increased further to 38.2% from 35% in 2005, which is 
another 3 percentage points gain of market share. Again, the portfolio of 
the Credit Bank of Prishtina is included in the calculations for 2005 and 
the market share of this bank before the close of business activity was 
around 7%.

Deposits Market Share - December 2006
The Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo deposits recorded a total increase of 34.1% 
for 2006. The market share increased further to 33.3% from 29% in 
2005, which is more than 4 percentage points increase in market share. 
The Credit Bank of Prishtina was included in the calculations for 2005 
and the market share of this bank before the close of business activity was 
around 5%.

The market deposits continued to increase during 2006. A significant part 
of this increase was due to Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo. Several campaigns 
were in place, which together with the Foreign Exchange offers and other 
services, such as standing orders, have contributed to this increase. In 
addition, the Term Deposit increased to around 41%.
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Total Deposits

Net Income after Tax

Net Income after Tax Market Share 
December 2006
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The year 2006 was the most successful year for 
Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo in terms of profit achievement. 
Net Income after Tax was €10.8 million, which is a 
participation in the market share of nearly 43.5%. 
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For the Corporate Banking Department of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo it is essential to work effectively 
with our customers to ensure that the right resources, products and services are available.  

The Corporate Department is focused on developing long-term relationships with large domestic 
companies, foreign companies with interests in Kosovo, the public sector, governmental and non-
governmental organisations, and non-bank financial institutions.  In 2006, we strove to achieve this 
by offering a variety of tailored products, including larger loans. Our focus was clearly centred on 
our customers. Together, we work to achieve business success, no matter how complex our customers’ 
requirements.

During 2006, the Corporate Department increased the number of the customer base, and ensured 
that our customers continuously used the products and services of our Bank.  Raiffeisen Bank’s key 
goal in 2006 was to continue providing fast and flexible support to its corporate customers in the 
lending and deposit area. As a result the Bank finished the year 2006 with the largest corporate 
loan portfolio in Kosovo. Total loans by year end 2006 had grown by 89% when compared with the 
previous year.

Corporate Loan Portfolio Development 

Credit Balances are equally important to the Corporate Department. Relationship Managers strive 
to maintain high level relationships with every customer: large domestic and foreign companies 
with interests in Kosovo, governmental and non-governmental organisations and non-bank financial 
institutions by offering a variety of products. Corporate customer deposits for the year 2006 
remained at a very satisfactory level, bearing in mind the investment phase that the economy finds 
itself in.  
  

Corporate Banking
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Corporate deposits increased by almost 15% and stood at €92 million at the end of 2006.

Corporate deposits

Concurrently, Corporate Banking expects to maintain its excellent management of credit risk, through 
careful adjudication of credit proposals and broad diversification of its portfolio. The largest loans 
were granted to manufacturing, mining and trade companies. These loans have a significant impact 
on employment in Kosovo, for they have been tailored for newly privatised companies that have 
restarted production; companies that have increased existing production capacities; and for the 
development of new production capacities.
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Key Issues when       
Choosing a Financial Partner in Kosovo
A combination of size, financial strength and wide ranging capability means we can provide 
customers with the right solution whatever or wherever their business may be. We understand what is 
important to our customers and are able to offer:

 Sound financial guidance supported by quick, proactive and responsive decision making;
 A real focus on building long-term successful relationships;
 A comprehensive product range with the flexibility to tailor individual solutions.

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo offers the firepower of a large international bank with the personal service 
ethos of a local bank. 

Working together, we believe the possibilities are endless.

Treasury
Kosovo still remains undeveloped as far as treasury and debt management is concerned. The 
undefined political status of Kosovo prevents the development of sophisticated tools for accessing local 
and international funding. The income from the collection of customs duties remains the dominant 
source of funding for the Kosovo budget; however collection of other taxes has improved.

The growth in the market loan book during 2006 was subdued, compared to previous years.  
Nevertheless, the loan portfolio grew at a rate of about 36%, and Raiffeisen Bank managed to capture 
50% of that growth. This slower growth rate, is reflected in a relatively constant loan to deposit ratio of 
around 72%, at the end of 2006, which is comparable to the end of the previous year.

Among the main reasons for the low growth in deposits are: the low growth of Year-on-Year GDP, the 
downturn in disposable income and the fall in foreign grants and investments.

•
•
•
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Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo Treasury
Money Market

The year 2006 continued the success of 2005. Raiffeisen Bank managed to capture more than 65% 
of the growth in the total market deposits. Maintaining this growth, within acceptable funding costs, 
was a goal that was achieved successfully, despite the congested market prevailing in Kosovo. 

Deposits show growth from €231 to €310 million within only one fiscal year. The amount of 
expansion from the growth of negotiable deposits is noticeable, as is that coming from corporate and 
from high net worth retail customers.

Institutional funding

Institutional funding during the year 2006 remained an important source of long term liquidity.  
Although still a small portfolio, Raiffeisen Bank has expanded the possibility to access long-term 
funding of its liquidity.  We believe that, for the immediate future, the most significant source of long-
term funding will come from supranational institutions.  These institutions are highly rated and have 
developed access to the capital markets; therefore funding costs are quite attractive. These institutions 
are long-term partners of Raiffeisen International. We believe that long-term funding will enable the 
Bank to enter into longer term projects, and will increase depositor confidence in the diversified 
structure of the funding of the Bank. We anticipate that during 2007, long-term institutional funding 
will be an important constituent of the funds in our balance sheet.  
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Liquidity and Interest Rate Risk Management

The overall liquidity and interest risk management of the Bank are the responsibilities of the 
Treasury Department. The internal controls and additional risk control tools established by Raiffeisen 
International Risk Management enable controlled risk management of the overall Treasury. The risk 
management and risk control tools have been established according to the latest risk management 
know-how, for which Raiffeisen Zentralbank has won numerous awards. The main Risk Management 
Tools have been endorsed by Raiffeisen International and are applied by Raiffeisen International 
Network Banks.

Liquidity reporting on a weekly basis at business segment level, monitoring of stickiness ratio 
separately for all business segments, banking book limits and reports which measure the interest 
risks and gaps, are currently the tools applied to manage and limit the underlying risk of conducting 
business.

Active interest rate Risk Management, for example Interest Rate Swaps and variable rate loans, are 
areas increasingly being focused on. These are utilised, primarily, in order to manage risk in the short 
term and to offer hedging instruments for our Customers, but also to secure the long term profitability 
of the Bank.

Foreign Exchange

Kosovo is a part of the Euro-zone. This has limited the potential of the Foreign Exchange business. 
We have explored this potential in the USD, GBP and CHF market, and achieved a good market 
share in the areas of oil derivative imports and food imports from South America and Asia. In 
effect the profitable Foreign Exchange business has increased our turnover in the transfer income 
commission business and increased our capabilities to offer our Customers a complete solution to 
their financial requirements. We have also developed a new line of business: working with official 
exchange offices in Kosovo, who collect foreign currency from the retail markets.

http://www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com
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Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs)
Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo continued to be successful in the segment of the Small and Medium 
Enterprises (SME). Thus, the Bank maintained its leading position in the SME local market segment. 
By the end of 2006, the Bank had 9,434 SME customers, which marked an increase of 15% 
compared to the previous year. 
 
With regard to lending balances, the Bank increased its market share in the SME segment from 29% 
to 35%. As of 31 December 2006, the Bank had 3,850 SME borrowers with total outstanding loans 
of €125.5 million, which is 20% higher than at the end of the previous year.

SME Loans and Overdrafts

The SME deposits rose by 61% during 2006, to €34.6 million at the end of the year. 

SME Deposits

Retail Banking
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When looking at the SME sector, the agreement between the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (EBRD) signed in December 2006 should also be mentioned. This agreement included a 
seven-million Euro credit line to be further lent to small and medium enterprises. 
 
During 2006, the Bank constantly strove to adapt its products to the priority needs of local SMEs. 
Taking this into consideration, the Bank has introduced measures to shorten its response time and 
extend the tenor of its term loans. In order to shorten turn-around time, the Bank has developed a new 
Application Processing System (APS) which is better adapted to the risk profile of smaller enterprises. 
This new system will be implemented in early 2007 and will enable the Bank to approve and 
disburse loans to SMEs in as short a period as one day. 

In addition, the Bank intends to introduce an important new product in the form of commercial 
mortgages. These will be longer term loans which will enable SMEs to finance the purchase of 
real estate; the renovation, expansion and reconstruction of existing business premises; and the 
construction of new premises for business purposes. The Bank expects manufacturing gradually 
to become the prime sector of lending in the coming years. Local and international investors are 
interested in manufacturing products that used to be made locally but are currently imported. 

As its pool of SME customers increases and their financial needs become more complex, the Bank 
has decided to reconsider its approach to the SME market by dividing it into two separate segments, 
micro and small enterprises. Each segment will be supported by a dedicated team of account officers 
and managers. This improved structure will make it easier to maintain close customer relations, 
respond to the specific needs of each segment and monitor the quality of the loan portfolio.

The Bank intends to maintain its focus on SMEs during 2007 and to increase its market share. 
The Bank’s priority will be to strengthen its relationship with existing customers by supporting their 
expansion with adequate financing on competitive terms. The Bank will also attempt to attract new 
customers through superior customer service and the high level of financial professionalism of its 
account officers and managers.

Private Individuals (PI)
The Private Individuals segment was characterised by growth in lending, deposits and number of 
customers. Thus, during 2006 PI customers increased by 33%. The increase arose from various 
factors such as continuous improvements in customer service, improvement of branches to provide 
a pleasant consumer business environment and the introduction of new products and services in the 
areas of lending and deposits. 
 
A significant increase of around 32% was reported in the personal loans area while the level of 
default was very low. As of 31 December 2006, the total loan portfolio exceeded €47.9 million, a 
39% increase compared with last year results. This result increased our local market share which at 
the end of the year was 31%.
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PI Loans and Overdrafts

PI Deposits increased by 47% during 2006, which demonstrates the outstanding position in the market 
for trust and security. The total PI Deposits are €183.2 million which represents 35% of the bank 
market.

PI Deposits
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Card Business
Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo marked another successful year in the area of card business. In addition to 
the existing cards, VISA Classic and Electron, Raiffeisen Bank started issuing to its customers the other 
international cards, MasterCard and Maestro. 

During 2006, the Bank continued to sustain expansion of the ATM and POS network. The Bank 
installed 11 new ATMs and 360 POSs, which increased the number of ATMs to 45 while the number 
of POS increased to 650 distributed in different locations in Kosovo. In addition, the Bank increased 
significantly the number of cards issued. The Bank issued 30,000 new cards (both charge cards 
and debit cards), thereby achieving a total of cards in circulation close to the one hundred thousand 
mark.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Bank took further initiatives that will lead to a significant 
expansion of its card business in 2007. This is in line with the Bank’s objective of providing its 
customers with products and services that are of the highest quality and meet international standards. 
The revolving credit card will be one of them.

Product Management and Development 
Since it was established, Product Management and Development Department has successfully 
implemented the commercialisation of various new products as a vital tool in satisfying market needs 
and business growth. The major developments related to the product mix dimension took place in 
the second and third quarter of 2006; Raiffeisen Bank has deepened its product range in all product 
groups for all customer segments. 

In Private Individual (PI) lending, the Bank introduced Retail Sales Finance with the aim of financing 
the purchase of consumer goods, and Mortgage Loans with the aim of financing the purchase of real 
estate with a term of up to 15 years. 

In the Micro Business segment, the Bank expanded its agro-loan program to other agricultural 
segments such as orchards business and soft fruits. Enrichments in the product range were also 
evident in the areas of payment and account services. Another example was the introduction of Night 
Deposit Services which enable businesses and individuals to deposit funds after working hours. 

The motive of increasing the existing product line was a matter of positioning the Bank as a full 
service financial provider. Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo will continue to differentiate its market offerings 
as well throughout the year 2007 through extension of new services and by keeping up with the 
ongoing changes in customer demand.

Risk and Credit Management 
Risk and Credit Management further developed its management and operational structure for better 
enhancement of overall processes. Following Basel II and Raiffeisen International requirements, 
the structure of the department has been enlarged and re-positioned in order to have specialised 
functions for relevant tasks, data-quality, portfolio management and collateral evaluation. 

http://www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com
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Risk and Credit Management took the main responsibility for implementating new tools in order to 
improve risk management and at the same time comply with Basel II requirements. Tools developed 
during 2006 include Application Processing System, PI Score Card, Collateral Module and Collection 
database. During the implementation of Group Data Warehouse, Risk and Credit Management had 
significant input from the business side. 

Risk and Credit Management was involved in developing and implementating all new products 
launched during 2006 (mortgage loans, MasterCard charge cards and retail sales finance) and 
remains committed to supporting business development in the future. Future projections for the year 
2007 include plans to enhance overall process efficiency by defining and creating new procedures 
for every segment.

Customer Service
In 2006, Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo established Customer Service Department in an effort to develop 
long term relationships with customers, improve service quality, and become more responsive to 
customers’ requests. In order to support the newly established Customer Service Department, an 
international consultant specialising in customer-centred strategy conducted Customer Care Coaching 
for Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo. 

In addition, the Bank continued to receive suggestions and comments from its customers through 
Suggestion Boxes which were placed in all branches and sub-branches. The Bank treated these 
inputs as crucial feedback on customer service and tried to meet their requests and needs in the 
most efficient way. The Bank will continue to develop further its customer service as well as finish the 
implementation of Uniforms for front line staff in 2007.

Distribution Channels
Branch Network during 2006

During 2006, Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo was very much engaged on expanding and enhancing the 
branch network. Four new sub-branches were opened in Decan, Skenderaj, Shtime and Prishtina. The 
latter functions as a Corporate Office as well. 

Number of Branches and Sub-branches - December 2006
Special attention was paid to implementating the Bank’s standard 
design not only in the newly opened branches. Thus, the existing 
main branches in Peja, Gjilan, Gjakova, and sub-branches in 
Kamenica and Kacanik were relocated to new, attractive premises 
and remodelled. These new premises are not only better positioned 
for customers, they also include more space, private consultation 
offices for customers, separate business teller windows, as well as 
more parking spaces. At the end of 2006, the overall Raiffeisen Bank 
Kosovo branch network consisted of 32 branches and sub-branches.

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo (14.5 %)

Banking Sector (85.5%)
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Mobile Bankers Network

In addition to branches, which continued to function as the basic tool of Distribution Channels, 
Raiffeisen Bank developed and introduced a Mobile Bankers network as a new channel. The Mobile 
Bankers Network was implemented during July 2006, with the aim of providing convenient and 
diverse services to our customers. Customers do not have to visit the Bank’s offices in order to have a 
professional consultation on the Bank’s retail services or products. Mobile Bankers are available to:

provide customers with free of charge consultation at any place and time    
which is convenient to them
help customers prepare the necessary documents in order to apply for     
the Bank service or products 
deliver the customer’s documents to the Bank office instead of the customer    
having to go there.

Raiffeisen Direct / Call Centre

Raiffeisen Direct/Call Centre continued to play a crucial role in providing various information on the 
Bank’s products and services. The Bank’s customers can also obtain information about their bank 
accounts. In March 2006, Raiffeisen Direct launched a new service for “pre–defined transactions” 
that enables customers to make transfers over the phone. 

During 2006, Raiffeisen Direct has extended its operations to a 24 hours a day, seven days a week 
service. Raiffeisen Direct can be contacted on 038 222 222.

The Call Centre initiated the phone centralisation project, which enables connection of the Raiffeisen 
Bank branches through use of extension number (VoIP solution). The project was implemented in the 
main branches and some sub-branches and in 2007 it is planned to connect the remaining sub-
branches. 

Operations
Payment transactions

There was a significant growth achieved in payments during 2006. The number of international 
payments in 2006 was 57,954 which marked an increase of 30% in comparison to 2005. The value 
of international payments totalled €927,431 million or 32% more than in 2005. Local payments 
grew by 78% or 131,630 payments with a total value of €956,010 million or 74% more than in 
2005.

•

•

•
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Local In/Out Tranfers (amounts)         Local In/Out Transfers (number)

The application of the E-banking service had an impact in the growth of payments. The number of 
payments processed was 4,439 with a value of €16,422 million. The significant growth of payments 
during each month is illustrated bellow.
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Trade Finance

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo made excellent progress in providing trade finance products. The value of all 
incoming and outgoing Trade Finance products during year 2006 was €38.8 million.
  

Trade Finance Products - Volume

The outstandings of Trade Finance products at the end of 2006 reached €18.23 million which is 1.5 
times more than at the end of 2005 when the outstanding amounted to €12.26 million.

Trade Finance Products - Outstandings

Organisation and Process Management 

We aim to provide as efficient a service as possible to our customers. To this end, during 2006, five 
Six Sigma projects were initiated. The following three projects were completed: Current Account 
Opening, Branch Reporting, and Business Cash Deposit. The implementation of these projects 
reduced the time taken to open an account, provided simpler operational reports, as well as enabled 
our front line staff to offer faster and more efficient services to customers. The Micro Loan Application 
Process Automation project is in its final phase. It simplifies the loan application process. Finally, the 
ATM Card Ordering and Distribution project was initiated at the end of 2006 and will be further 
developed in 2007.  
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Personnel Training and Management
Our staff numbers are steadily increasing as our business develops. At the end of 2006, the Bank 
employed 481 staff (including part-time staff) which represents 18.6% of all staff in the banking sector. 

Number of employees

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo is committed to ensuring that its staff develop their skills and knowledge by 
providing internal and external training and development opportunities. These projects have resulted in 
improvements in the areas of products and processes coupled with more efficient customer service. 

Around 87% of staff participated in a variety of training programmes, workshops and seminars, giving 
an average of 4.76 training days per employee. Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo has successfully co-operated 
with the Kosovo Bankers’ Association, International Consultants and invested in licensing internal 
trainers, to provide high quality opportunities for its staff to increase the scope of their professional 
abilities.

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo continued for the second year with an internship program with the best 
students of the American University of Kosovo, University of Prishtina, Faculty of Economy and the 
University of Business and Technology. The purpose of this program was to expose top students to 
commercial life. Following completion of the internship, several were selected and appointed to join 
the appropriate departments and branches as full-time members of staff.

Throughout the internship period, students were given the opportunity to consolidate their theoretical 
foundation through practical experience, during which one of the major components was the formation 
of a solid professional attitude. The ultimate purpose of the internship program was to offer competent, 
professional, and dedicated entry-level students the opportunity successfully to complete their internship 
and gain practical work experience. 

In addition to the above activities, Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo continued to sponsor post-graduate 
studies and special courses, since it regards its staff as its most important resource and encourages 
them to acquire skills that will develop their abilities to progress within our Bank. As a result, two 
of our staff graduated in 2006 from the University of Business and Technology in Pristina, certified 
by the Technology University in Vienna, in the field of Engineering Management and Total Quality 
Management.

Employees
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Statement of Management’s Responsibilities

To the Shareholders of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo J.S.C.

We have prepared the financial statements as at 31 December 2006 and 2005 and for the years 
then ended, which present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of Raiffeisen Bank 
Kosovo J.S.C. (the “Bank”) as at 31 December 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for the years then ended. Management is responsible for ensuring that the Bank 
keeps accounting records that comply with the Kosovo banking regulations and can be suitably 
amended to disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Bank and the results of 
its operations and cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that 
include International Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (the IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for related accounting periods. 
Management also has a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably available to 
them to safeguard the assets of the Bank and prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Management considers that, in preparing the financial statements, the Bank has used appropriate 
accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgement and 
estimates, and that appropriate International Financial Reporting Standards have been followed.

The financial statements are hereby approved on behalf of the Management of the Bank.

Prishtina, Kosovo
4 April 2007

Gary Moinette
Head of Customer Business

Management Board Member

Oliver Whittle
Chief Executive Officer

Management Board Member
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Board of Directors and shareholders of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo J.S.C

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo J.S.C (the “Bank”), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2006, and the statement of operations, statement of changes 
in shareholders’ equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s	Responsibility	for	the	Financial	Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s	Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Bank as at 31 December 2006, and its financial performance, changes in shareholders’ equity 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Deloitte Kosova s.h.pk
Prishtina, Kosovo
4 April 2007
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Balance Sheets as at 31 December 2006 and 2005 
(in	thousands	of	Euro	unless	otherwise	stated)

Approved for issue on behalf of the Management of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo J.S.C. and signed on 
its behalf on 4 April 2007. The accompanying notes from 1 to 23 form and integral part of these 
financial statements.

  31 December  31 December 
 Note 2006 2005

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents and mandatory reserve 5 46,761 30,953

Due from other banks  6 102,444 64,582

Loans and advances to customers 7 222,043 164,509

Other assets 8 683 284

Leasehold improvements, equipment and intangible assets 9 4,154 3,422

Deferred tax asset  19 268 191

Total assets  376,353 263,941

Liabilities   

Customer accounts  10 310,014 231,256

Borrowings 11 17,678 5,695

Other liabilities  12 3,246 2,822

Corporate profit tax payable  1,180 728

Total liabilities   332,118 240,501

Shareholders’ equity   

Share capital 13 33,000 17,750

Accumulated earnings  11,235 5,690

Total shareholders’ equity  44,235 23,440

 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  376,353 263,941

Gary Moinette
Head of Customer Business

Management Board Member

Oliver Whittle
Chief Executive Officer

Management Board Member
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Income Statement for the Years Ended 31 December 2006 and 2005 
(in	thousands	of	Euro	unless	otherwise	stated)

  Year ended Year ended 
  31 December  31 December 
 Note 2006 2005

Interest income 14 33,103 21,867

Interest expense 14 (6,587) (3,055)

Net interest income  26,516 18,812 

Provision for loan impairment 7 (3,874) (1,620)

Recoveries from loans written off  256 438

(Provision) / release of provision for losses on commitments and     
  contingent liabilities 12 (36) 108

Net interest income after provision for loan impairment  22,862 17,738 

Foreign exchange gains, net  772 389

Fee and commission income 15 4,527 3,457

Fee and commission expense 15 (502) (536)

Other income 16 147 211

Operating income  27,806  21,259 

Staff costs 17 (4,918) (4,055)

Other operating expenses 18 (9,621) (8,542)

Profit before taxation  13,267 8,662 

Income tax expense 19 (2,472) (1,779) 

 

Net Profit for the Year  10,795 6,883
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Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended 31 December 2006 and 2005
(in	thousands	of	Euro	unless	otherwise	stated)

 Share capital Accumulated  Total 
  earnings/ shareholders’ 
  (deficit) equity

Balance at 31 December 2004 17,750 (1,193) 16,557

Net Profit for the year - 6,883 6,883

Balance at 31 December 2005 17,750 5,690 23,440

Additional capital contribution 10,000 - 10,000
Capitalisation of retained earnings 5,250 (5,250) -
Net Profit for the year - 10,795 10,795

 

Balance at 31 December 2006 33,000 11,235 44,235
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Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended 31 December 2006 and 2005
(in	thousands	of	Euro	unless	otherwise	stated)

 Year ended   Year ended  
 31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received on loans 29,927  20,084

Interest received on placements 2,324  950

Interest paid (5,038)  (2,315)

Fees and commissions received 4,667  3,324

Fees and commissions paid (502)  (536)

Other operating income received 147  211

Staff costs paid (4,764)  (4,055)

Other operating expenses paid (7,692)  (7,675)

Income tax paid (2,097)  (1,529)

Cash flows from operating activities before changes     
   in operating assets and liabilities 16,972  8,459

    
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Net increase in mandatory liquidity reserve (7,864)  (10,142)

Net increase in due from other banks (37,377)  (39,659)

Net increase in loans and advances to customers (60,482)  (66,664)

Net (increase) / decrease in other assets (357)  365

Net increase in customer accounts 77,462  101,325

Net increase in other liabilities 262  276

Net cash used in operating activities (11,384)  (6,040)
    

  Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of leasehold improvements, equipment and     
  intangible assets (2,367)  (1,835)

Net cash used in investing activities (2,367)  (1,835)
    

  Cash flows from financing activities

Additional capital contributions in cash 10,000  -

Proceeds from borrowings 13,000  5,900

Repayment of borrowings (1,160)  (222)

Net cash from financing activities 21,840  5,678
    

  Effect of exchange rate changes (144)  358

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,945  (1,839)

   

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7,827  9,666

 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (note 5) 15,772  7,827
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the years 
ended 31 December 2006 and 2005

1. Principal Activities

The current 100% shareholder of Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo J.S.C (“the Bank”) is Raiffeisen International 
Bank-Holding AG (RI), formerly Raiffeisen International Beteiligungs AG (RIB). The ultimate parent of the 
Bank is Raiffeisen Zentralbank Osterreich AG (RZB). At the date of foundation of the Bank and up to 
February 2003 the Bank was called the “American Bank of Kosovo”. In February 2003 the shareholders 
of the Bank decided to change the name of the Bank to Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo J.S.C. The change of 
the name was approved by the Central Banking Authority of Kosova (the “CBAK”, formerly known as 
Banking and Payments Authority of Kosovo - BPK) on 28 April 2003.

The Bank operates under a banking licence issued by the CBAK (formerly BPK) on 8 November 2001. 
The Bank’s principal business activities are commercial and retail banking operations within Kosovo.  

As at 31 December 2006 the Bank has 8 branches and 24 sub-branches within Kosovo (31 December 
2005: 8 branches and 20 sub-branches). The Bank’s registered office is located at the following address: 

 UCK Street No 51,
 Prishtina,
 Kosovo – UNMIK.

The number of the Bank’s employees as at 31 December 2006 was 481 (31 December 2005: 386 
employees).

2. Operating Environment of the Bank

Under Resolution 1244 (1999) of the United Nations Security Council, Kosovo is administered by the 
United Nations Interim Administration Mission in Kosovo (UNMIK) headed by the Special Representative 
of the Secretary-General. Since 1999 legislative and executive authority with respect to Kosovo has been 
vested in UNMIK. The Constitutional Framework for Provisional Self-Government adopted by UNMIK 
Regulation 2001/9 of 15 May 2001 provides for division of powers between UNMIK and Provisional 
Institutions of Self-Government, as well as the transfer of powers and responsibilities to the Provisional 
Institutions of Self-Government, which is currently underway.

During year 2006, several rounds of negotiations were held between the representatives of Serbia and 
Kosovo with the purpose to reach an agreement on the final status of Kosovo. The negotiation process is 
undergoing. 

The recent economic growth in Kosovo has been mainly driven by large foreign assistance and 
remittances from Kosovars living abroad. However, the donors’ transfers to Kosovo are gradually 
declining and there is an urgent need for a transformation from an aid-dependent economy. This in turn 

(in	thousands	of	Euro	unless	otherwise	stated)

http://www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com


Supervisory Board      Management Board      Organisational Structure      Vision and Mission      RZB and RI      .

Financial Statements

��www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com      Glossary      Macroeconomic Environment      Overview      Segment Reports      Financial Statements      Addresses

is dependent on the status of Kosovo as a region and has a long term impact on all aspects of the Bank’s 
operations.

The economy of Kosovo represents an emerging market. Political structure and the regulatory and legal 
framework are currently under development. The volume of activity in financial markets is insignificant.

Although the existing regulations provide rules for the registration and enforcement of collateral, 
extremely long delays in the handling of commercial court cases are hampering the imposition of market 
discipline. Additionally, the market in Kosovo for assets taken as collateral is underdeveloped.  Therefore, 
it is not possible to estimate the fair value of collateral taken.

The prospects for future economic stability in Kosovo are largely dependent upon the effectiveness 
of economic measures undertaken by the authorities, together with legal, regulatory and political 
developments, which are beyond the Bank’s control. Major uncertainties that impact the economic 
prospects of Kosovo relate to the prospects of remittances, donor support and the resolution of Kosovo’s 
final status.

3. Basis of Presentation

The financial statements of the Bank are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”), including International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) and Interpretations issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board. 

In the current year, the Bank has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective 
for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2006. The adoption of these new and revised Standards 
and Interpretations has resulted in no significant changes to the Bank’s accounting policies.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations 
were in issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures   Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.
IFRS 8  Operating segments  Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.
IAS 1  Presentation of Financial Statements Added       
  disclosures about an entity’s capital  Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.
IFRIC 7  Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29,    Annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2006.    
  Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
IFRIC 8  Scope of IFRS 2   Annual periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006.
IFRIC 9  Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives   Annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2006.
IFRIC 10  Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment   Annual periods beginning on or after 1 November 2006.
IFRIC 11  IFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share transactions   Annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007.
IFRIC 12  Service Concession Arrangements  Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008.
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The management of the Bank anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in 
future periods will have no significant impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
 
The financial statements are presented in thousands of Euro (“EUR”), the currency designated to 
be used in Kosovo for all budgets, financial records and accounts and for all payments, including 
compulsory payments. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention.

The presentation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the management of the 
Bank to make judgement about estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial 
statements and their reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, 
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. Significant areas of subjective judgement 
include provisioning for incurred credit losses which involve uncertainties about the outcome of those 
risks and require the management of the Bank to make subjective judgements in estimating the loss 
amounts.

4. Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and cash equivalents.  Cash and cash equivalents are items which can be converted into cash 
at short notice and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Amounts which 
relate to funds that are of a restricted nature are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

Mandatory liquidity reserves.  In accordance with the CBAK rules, the Bank should meet the minimum 
average liquidity requirement. The liquidity requirement is calculated on a weekly basis as 10% of 
the deposit base, defined as the average total deposit liabilities to the non-banking public in EUR 
and other currencies, over the business days of the maintenance period. The assets with which the 
Bank may satisfy its liquidity requirement are the EUR deposits with the CBAK and 50% of the EUR 
equivalent of cash denominated in readily convertible currencies. Deposits with the CBAK must not be 
less than 5% of the applicable deposit base.

As the respective liquid assets are not available to finance the Bank’s day to day operations, they 
have been excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement.

Due from other banks. All short term inter-bank placements and escrow accounts other than overnight 
deposits and placements on call are included in “Due from other banks”. 

Loans and advances and to customers and provisions for loan impairment.  Loans and 
advances are measured at amortised cost.

A provision for loan impairment is established if there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be 
able to collect the amounts due according to original contractual terms. The amount of the provision 
is the difference between the carrying amount and estimated recoverable amount, calculated as the 
present value of expected cash flows including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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The provision for loan impairment also covers losses where there is objective evidence that probable 
losses are present in components of the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. These have been 
estimated based upon historical patterns of losses in each component and the credit ratings assigned 
to the borrowers reflect the current economic environment in which the borrowers operate. 

When a loan is considered to be uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan 
impairment.  Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and 
the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited to the income statement to line item “Provision for loan impairment”.

If the amount of the provision for loan impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring 
after the write down the release of the provision is credited to the provision for loan impairment in the 
income statement.

Leasehold improvements, equipment and intangible assets. Capitalised leasehold improvements, 
equipment and intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation / amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, where required. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount and the difference is 
charged to the income statement. The estimated recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net 
selling price and its value-in-use. Gains and losses on disposal of leasehold improvements, equipment 
and intangible assets are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are taken into 
account in determining the operating result for the period. Repairs and maintenance are charged to 
the income statement when the expenditure is incurred.

All premises used by the Bank are under operating lease agreements.

Depreciation and amortisation. Depreciation and amortisation is applied on a straight line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets using the following rates:

The estimated useful life and depreciation / amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a 
prospective basis. 

Assets with a cost of less than EUR 1,000 are expensed.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the term of the relevant lease.
 
Computer software development costs. Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with 

                     31 December 2006
ATMs, other bank and office equipment  20%
Computer hardware  33%
Intangible assets  20%
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identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Bank and which are expected to generate 
economic benefits beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include external 
consultancy costs.  Internal development costs are not capitalised.

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programmes beyond 
their original specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost 
of the software.  Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised using the 
straight-line method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 5 years.

Operating leases. Where the Bank is the lessee, the rental payments made under operating leases 
are charged as an expense to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the 
lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required 
to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which 
termination takes place.

Finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Bank at 
their fair value at the inception of the lease, or if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease 
obligation. 

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation 
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges 
are charged directly to income statement.

Borrowings. Borrowings are interest-bearing borrowed funds. Initially, they are recorded at cost, 
which is the fair value of the consideration given and subsequently are carried at amortised cost. Any 
interest or fee related to the borrowed funds is expensed and presented in the income statement for 
the period.

Off-balance sheet commitments and contingent liabilities. In the ordinary course of its business, the 
Bank has entered into off-balance sheet commitments such as guarantees, commitments to extend 
credit and letters of credit and transactions with financial instruments. The provision for losses on 
commitments and contingent liabilities is maintained at a level adequate to absorb probable future 
losses. Management determines the adequacy of the provision based upon reviews of individual 
items, recent loss experience, current economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the various 
categories of transactions and other pertinent factors.

The Bank recognises a provision when it has a present obligation as a result of a past event; it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
 
Income taxes. Taxation has been provided for in the financial statements in accordance with Kosovo 
tax regulations currently in force (UNMIK Regulation no. 2004/51, “On Corporate Income Tax” and 
UNMIK Regulation 2005/51).
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The income tax charge in the income statement for the year comprises current tax and changes in 
deferred tax. Current tax is calculated on the basis of the expected taxable profit for the year using the 
tax rates in force at the balance sheet date. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the income 
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years 
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. Taxes other than income taxes are 
recorded within operating expenses. 

Deferred income tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method for all temporary 
differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred 
tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that the taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against tax liabilities and when they relate to 
income levied by the same taxation authority and the Bank intends to settle its current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis. 

Income and expense recognition. Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement 
for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective yield method based on the 
actual purchase price. 

Fees, commissions and other income and expense items are generally recorded on an accrual basis 
over the period for which the service has been provided.  

Foreign currency translation. Transactions denominated in currencies other than EUR are recorded at 
the exchange rate ruling on the transaction date. Exchange differences resulting from the settlement of 
transactions denominated in currencies other than EUR are included in the income statement using the 
exchange rate ruling on that date.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than EUR are translated into EUR at the 
mid market exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates ruling at the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated. Foreign currency gains and losses arising from the translation of assets and 
liabilities are reflected in the income statement as foreign exchange translation gains less losses.  
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 The principal rates of exchange used for translating balances in currencies other than EUR were:

Impairment. The carrying amount of the Bank’s assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated, and impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

Provisions. Provisions are recorded when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can 
be made. Provisions are measured at the management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where the effect is 
material.

Pension costs. Under the UNMIK Regulation No 2001/35 “On Pensions in Kosovo” (Section 7), each 
employer pays 5% of the total wages paid to Kosovars to the pension fund. For all organizations 
other than “agencies of state” or large employers with 500 or more employees provisions of the 
Regulation became effective from 1 August 2003 as stated in the UNMIK Administrative Direction 
No.2003/7.

The Bank makes no provision and has no obligation for employees pensions over and above the 
contributions paid into the pension scheme run under the above-mentioned regulations.

Derivative financial instruments. The Bank enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its 
exposure to interest rate risk through interest rate swaps.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss 
is recognised in income statement immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a 
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in income statement depends on the 
nature of the hedge relationship.

The fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if 
the remaining maturity of the hedge relationship is more than 12 months and as a current asset or a 
current liability if the remaining maturity of the hedge relationship is less than 12 months. 

Derivatives not designated into an effective hedge relationship are classified as a current asset or a 
current liability.
 

 31 December 2006 31 December 2005
1 USD 0.7620 0.8452
1 CHF 0.6213 0.6423
1 GBP 1.4909 1.4548
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5. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Mandatory Reserve

Cash on hand and balances with the CBAK include a mandatory liquidity reserve balance of EUR 
30,989 thousand (31 December 2005: EUR 23,126 thousand). The liquidity reserve balance is 
calculated on the basis of a simple average over a week and should be maintained as 10 per cent 
of certain obligations of the Bank. As such the balance can vary from day-to-day. This balance is 
excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement. 

As at 31 December 2006 and 2005 the Bank’s cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of cash 
flow statement were as follows:

The CBAK pays interest on the Bank’s average assets holdings with the CBAK above 5% of the 
applicable deposit base up to the amount of its average minimum liquidity reserve requirement. As 
at 31 December 2006 the interest was paid at the rate of 2.25% per annum (31 December 2005: 
1.25% per annum).

6. Due from Other Banks

As disclosed in Note 23, the entire balance of  term deposits is outstanding from Raiffeisen 
Zentralbank Oesterreich AG, which is the ultimate parent of the Bank. 

The balance due from other banks includes accrued interest income in the amount of EUR 609 
thousand as at 31 December 2006 (31 December 2005: EUR 124 thousand).

 31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Cash on hand 15,328  11,531

Balances with the CBAK 25,751  15,179

Correspondent accounts and placements on call     
  with other banks - OECD countries 5,682  4,243 

Total cash, cash equivalents and mandatory liquidity reserve 46,761  30,953

 31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Total cash and cash equivalents and mandatory reserve 46,761  30,953

Less: Mandatory liquidity reserve (30,989)  (23,126) 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of cash flow statement 15,772  7,827

 31 December 2006  31 December 2005
Term deposits 101,771  62,830
Guarantee deposits 673  1,752

Total due from other banks 102,444  64,582
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Guarantee deposits include an amount of EUR 443 thousand as at 31 December 2006 (31 
December 2005: EUR 1,285 thousand) which represent restricted deposits with a related party in 
relation to guarantees issued on the Bank’s behalf, for its customers.  The Bank does not have the 
right to use these funds for the purposes of funding its own activities. 

7. Loans and Advances to Customers

Loans and advances to customers include accrued interest income in the amount of EUR 1,112 
thousand (31 December 2005: EUR 869 thousand).

Movements in the provision for loan impairment are as follows:

As at 31 December 2006 the Bank has 336 borrowers (31 December 2005: 244 borrowers) with 
aggregated loan amounts above EUR 100 thousand. The aggregate amount of these loans is EUR 

  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Legal entities 

Current and rescheduled loans 131,935  97,462

Current loans containing a portion overdue 3,480  4,390

Overdue loans 2,114  2,163

Overdraft facilities 44,160  30,834

Customer accounts in overdraft 45  -

  181,734  134,849

Individuals 

Personal loans 45,788  32,950

Payroll overdrafts 1,815  1,232

Customer accounts in overdraft 204  165

 47,807  34,347

Loans and advances to customers 229,541  169,196

Less: Provision for loan impairment (7,498)  (4,687)

 

 Loans and advances to customers, net 222,043  164,509

 Year ended   Year ended  
 31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Provision for loan impairment at the beginning of the year 4,687  3,632

Net charge for provision for loan impairment during the year 3,874  1,620

Write offs (1,063)  (565)

Provision for loan impairment at the end of the year 7,498  4,687
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107,953 thousand or 47% of the gross loan portfolio (31 December 2005: EUR 62,487 thousand or 
37% of the gross loan portfolio).

Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio are as follows:

8. Other Assets

    31 December 2006 31 December 2005

 Amount % Amount %

Trade 116,967 51 89,565 53

Manufacturing, chemical and processing 21,476 9 1,501 1

Service 6,669 3 7,553 4

Construction and construction servicing 12,328 5 10,143 6

Food industry and agriculture 23,005 10 16,408 10

Individuals 47,807 21 34,347 20

Other 1,289 1 9,679 6

Total loans and advances to customers before provision 
for loan impairment  229,541 100 169,196 100

 31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Prepayments and advances for services 462  163

Other receivables 221  121

Total other assets 683  284
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9. Leasehold Improvements, Equipment and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets comprise computer software licences and software development costs.

10. Customer Accounts

 Leasehold ATM, other Computer Intangible  Total 
 improvements bank and office  hardware assets  
  equipment

Cost 

At 1 January 2005   965 2,184 1,182 2,050 6,381

Additions   530 905 373 588 2,396

Disposals (136) (69) (25) - (230)

 At 31 December 2006 1,359 3,020 1,530 2,638 8,547

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation 

At 1 January 2005 260 699 876 1,124 2,959

Depreciation/amortisation charge       
  for the year (Note 18) 416 489 218 483 1,606

Eliminated on disposals (112) (35) (25) - (172)

At 31 December 2006 564 1,153 1,069 1,607 4,393

Net book value at 31 December 2006 795  1,867 461 1,031 4,154

Net book value at 31 December 2005 705 1,485 306 926 3,422

  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Legal entities 

Current accounts 53,815  53,572

Savings accounts 1,489  900

Term deposits and margin accounts 71,477  52,073

  126,781  106,545

Individuals 

Current accounts 63,121  43,283

Savings accounts 23,101  13,844

Term deposits and margin accounts 97,011  67,584

 183,233  124,711

 

Total customer accounts 310,014  231,256
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As at 31 December 2006, customer accounts include accrued interest expense in the amount of EUR 
2,593 thousand (31 December 2005: EUR 1,297 thousand). 

Economic sector concentrations within the customer accounts are as follows:

As at 31 December 2006 the Bank has 274 customers with balances above EUR 100 thousand (31 
December 2005: 160 customers). The aggregate balances of these customers are EUR 131,471 
thousand or 42% of total customer accounts (31 December 2005: EUR 101,343 thousand or 44% of 
total customer accounts).

Included in customer accounts are deposits of EUR 2,891 thousand as at 31 December 2006, held 
as collateral for guarantees and letters of credit issued by the Bank to these customers (31 December 
2005: EUR 1,821  thousand). Refer to Note 21. Details of related party balances are presented 
under Note 23.

    31 December 2006 31 December 2005

 Amount % Amount %

Agriculture 530 - 219 -

Public Administration 4,668 2 2,244 1

Mining 315 - 32 -

Civil Engineering  792 - 568 -

Electricity, Gas and Water 1,782 1 845 -

Wholesale and Retail trade 14,570 5 11,243 5

Communication 53,829 17 49,168 21

Hotels and Restaurants 1,229 - 825 -

Manufacturing ( Food, Textile, Leather) 2,275 1 1,617 1

Construction 6,961 2 3,353 2

Transportation Warehouse 1,755 1 1,152 1

Financial Institutions 1,158 - 9,036 4

Other services 220,150 71 150,954 65

 Total customer accounts 310,014 100 231,256 100
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11. Borrowings 

The Bank signed a framework agreement on 8 February 2005 with the Kreditanstalt fur 
Wiederaufbau, Frankfurt am Main (“KfW”) for the purpose of obtaining loans from European Fund 
for Kosovo (“EFK”). KfW is managing the EFK which has been funded by the European Agency for 
Reconstruction (“EAR”). The purpose of the fund is to refinance sub-loans to borrowers in Kosovo 
for the purpose of housing activities and small and medium enterprises (SME) and according to the 
criteria established by EFK. European Fund for Southeast Europe (EFSE) has taken over EFK on 15 
December 2005.

KfW: The Bank has received three loans from KfW and repaid three instalments during 2005 and 
2006. The first loan was received during the first part of the year 2005 for the amount of EUR 2 
million. The second loan of EUR 2.9 million was received during the second half of 2005. The 
third loan was received during the first half of 2006 for EUR 8 million. All borrowed funds have a 
grace period of six months and a five year maturity period. The interest rates are variable based on 
EURIBOR plus a margin percentage, which is fixed between 2-3%. 

Raiffeisen Bank Albania: The interest rate is fixed at 4.3%, an associated guarantee fee is fixed at 
5%, and the repayment is linked to the client repayment schedule. The loan has a grace period of six 
months and a maturity period of five years. 

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”): The first amount received in 2006 
was EUR 2 million. The loan has up to one year grace period and will be payable in five years. The 
interest rate is variable based on EURIBOR plus a margin percentage of 3%. As at 31 December 
2006, the Bank had available EUR 5 million (31 December 2005: Nil) of undrawn committed 
borrowing facilities. 

In the borrowings amount as at 31 December 2006 is included an accrued interest amount of EUR 
160 thousand (31 December 2005: 18 thousand).

  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

European Fund for Southeast Europe – KfW loans 11,806  4,692

Participating Loan – Raiffeisen Bank Albania 3,866  1,003

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 2,006  -

Total borrowings 17,678  5,695
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12. Other Liabilities

Geographical, currency and maturity analyses of other liabilities are disclosed in Note 20. Details of 
related party balances are presented under Note 23. 

Movements in the provision for losses on commitments and contingent liabilities are as follows:

13. Share Capital
Authorised and registered share capital of the Bank comprises 100 shares of common stock of no 
par value. During 2006, the share capital amount increased by EUR 10 million of additional capital 
contributed by RI and EUR 5.25 million of capitalised retained earnings. The structure of the share 
capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

All shares have equal rights to dividents and carry equal voting rights.

  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Deferred income 1,774  1,790

Tax payable 166  151

Accrued staff costs 459  62

Accrued operating expenses 305  481

Equipment and intangible assets payable 97  73

Provision for losses on commitments and contingent liabilities 140  104

Liabilities on leased assets 39  51

Interest Rate SWAP payable 109  -

Other 157  110

Total other liabilities 3,246  2,822

 Year ended  Year ended 
  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Provision for losses on commitments and contingent     
  liabilities at the beginning of the year 104  212

Provision for losses / (release of provision) on commitments     
  and contingent liabilities  36  (108)

Provision for losses on commitments and contingent     
  liabilities at the end of the year 140  104

   31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Shareholder  Number of  Amount in  Voting  Number of  Amount in  Voting 
  shares thousands  share EUR   shares thousands  share EUR 
   EUR   EUR

Raiffeisen International         
  Bank-Holding AG (RI)  100 33,000 100%  100 17,750 100%
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14. Interest Income and Expense

15. Fee and Commission Income and Expense

 Year ended  Year ended 
  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Interest income   

Loans and advances to customers 30,295  20,855

Due from other banks 2,808  1,012

Total interest income 33,103  21,867

Interest expense   

Term deposits  (4,780)  (2,656)

Savings accounts (306)  (183)

Current accounts (403)  (145)

Borrowings (1,066)  (70)

Interest rate SWAP (31)  -

Other interest expense (1)  (1)

Total interest expense (6,587)  (3,055)

   

Net interest income 26,516  18,812

 Year ended  Year ended 
  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Commission on settlement transactions 2,207  1,808

Account service fees 593  475

Fees for trade finance services 680  418

Social and corporate payment fees 427  389

Commission on ATM/POS related services 571  362

Commission on cash withdrawals 45  4

Other 2  1

Total fee and commission income 4,525  3,457

   

Correspondent bank charges (502)  (536)

Total fee and commission expense (502)  (536)

   

Net fee and commission income 4,023  2,921
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16. Other Income

In 2003 the Bank purchased a portfolio of 36 loans from a Kosovo-based credit institution, Interim 
Credit Unit of Kosovo (ICU) for a total consideration of EUR 905 thousand. Difference between fair 
value at the time of transfer and purchase consideration of EUR 310 thousand was amortised over the 
average maturity period of purchased portfolio. In addition, any amount recovered from the portfolio 
is accounted for under other income reporting line.

17. Staff Costs

 Year ended  Year ended 
  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Recoveries of bad debts acquired     
  as part of the purchased loan portfolio 144  209

Other 3  2

Total other income 147  211

 Year ended  Year ended 
  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Salaries and wages  4,007  3,417

Bonuses 424  371

Overtime 39  39

Mandatory staff pension contributions 203  161

Other staff costs 245  67

Total staff cost 4,918  4,055
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18. Other Operating Expenses

19. Income Taxes

The income tax rate applicable to the Bank’s income is 20% (31 December 2005: 20%). The 
reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below.

  Year ended Year ended 
  31 December  31 December 
 Note 2006 2005

Depreciation and amortisation  9 1,606 1,388

Rent  914 563

Security  730 581

IT consulting and recurring fees  107 76

Professional services – consulting fees  2,061 2,918

Telecommunication expenses  506 452

ATM expenses  857 533

Building and equipment maintenance  253 96

Staff travel, training and residence  525 370

Marketing, advertising, and sponsorship  670 353

Losses on disposal of fixed assets  24 93

Utilities and related expenses  319 263

Equipment and computers  433 286

Stationery  225 193

Insurance  143 145

Other  248 232

Total other operating expenses  9,621 8,542

  Year ended Year ended 
  31 December  31 December 
  2006 2005

Current profit tax charge  2,549 1,735

Deferred taxation   (77) 44

Income tax expense for the year  2,472 1,779

  Year ended Year ended 
  31 December  31 December 
  2006 2005

Profit before taxation  13,267 8,662 

Theoretical tax charge for the year at the applicable statutory rate 2,653 1,732

Tax effect of items which are not deductible for taxation purposes: (104) 3

Current profit tax charge  2,549 1,735
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Differences between IFRS financial statements and Kosovo statutory taxation regulations give rise to certain 
temporary differences between the carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and for profit tax purposes. The tax effect of the movement on these temporary differences is 
recorded at the rate of 20%.

The net deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable through future revenues and is recorded 
as a deferred tax asset on the balance sheet. Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry 
forwards only to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable.

20. Financial Risk Management

The risk management function within the Bank is carried out in respect of financial risks (credit, market, 
geographical, currency, liquidity and interest rate), operational risks and legal risks. The primary objectives 
of the financial risk management function are to establish risk limits and then to ensure that exposure to 
risks stays within these limits. The operational and legal risk management functions are intended to ensure 
proper functioning of internal policies and procedures to minimise operational and legal risks.

Credit risk. The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to 
pay amounts in full when due. The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on 
the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower and to geographical and industry segments. Such 
risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review. Limits on the 
level of credit risk by borrower are approved by Management.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet interest and principal repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits, 
where appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed, in part, by obtaining collateral and corporate 
and personal guarantees.

The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk is primarily reflected in the carrying amounts of financial 
assets on the balance sheet. The impact of possible netting of assets and liabilities to reduce potential 
credit exposure is not significant.

Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as the possibility of sustaining a loss as 
a result of another party to a financial instrument failing to perform in accordance with the terms of the 

 31 December Movement  31 December 
 2005 during 2006 2006

Tax effect of deductible temporary differences   

Loan impairment provision 326 (172) 154

Leasehold improvements, equipment and intangible assets 56 58 114

Gross deferred tax asset 382 (114) 268 

Less: non-recognised deferred tax asset (191) 191 -

Total net deferred tax asset 191 77 268
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contract. The Bank uses the same credit policies in making conditional obligations as it does for 
on-balance sheet financial instruments through established credit approvals, risk control limits and 
monitoring procedures.

Market risk. The Bank takes on exposure to market risks. Market risks arise from open positions 
in interest rate and currency products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market 
movements.  Management sets limits on the value of risk that may be accepted, which is monitored 
on a daily basis.  However, the use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these limits in 
the event of more significant market movements.

Geographical risk. The geographical concentration of the Bank’s assets and liabilities as at 31 
December 2006 and 2005 is set out below:              

 Kosovo EU Other Total

Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents and mandatory liquidity reserve 41,030 5,731 - 46,761

Due from other banks - 102,444 - 102,444

Loans and advances to customers 222,043 - - 222,043

Other assets 531 152 - 683

Leasehold improvements, equipment and intangible assets 4,154 - - 4,154

Deferred tax asset 268 - - 268

Total assets 268,026 108,327 - 376,353

Liabilities    

Customer accounts 284,048 21,760 4,206 310,014

Borrowings - 13,812 3,866 17,678

Other liabilities 2,952 293 1 3,246

Corporate profit tax payable 1,180 - - 1,180

Total liabilities 288,180 35,865 8,073 332,118

 

Net balance sheet position at 31 December 2006 (20,154) 72,462 (8,073) 44,235

Net balance sheet position at 31 December 2005 (29,557) 55,883 (2,886) 23,440
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   EUR USD Other Total 
  Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents and mandatory liquidity reserve  38,748 2,630 5,383 46,761

Due from other banks   90,122 12,322 - 102,444

Loans and advances to customers   222,043 - - 222,043

Other assets   676 7 - 683

Leasehold improvements, equipment and intangible assets  4,154 - - 4,154

Deferred tax asset   268 - - 268

Total assets   356,011 14,959 5,383 376,353

Liabilities  

Customer accounts   290,190 13,730 6,094 310,014

Borrowings    17,678 - - 17,678

Other liabilities   3,227 19 - 3,246

Corporate profit tax payable   1,180 - - 1,180

Total liabilities   312,275 13,749 6,094 332,118

 

Net balance sheet position at 31 December 2006  43,736 1,210 (711) 44,235

Net balance sheet position at  31 December 2005  23,524 (171) 87 23,440

Currency risk. The Bank takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency 
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Management sets limits on the level of 
exposure by currency and in total, which are monitored daily. The table below summarises the Bank’s 
exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December 2006 and 2005. Included in the 
table are the Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.
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Liquidity risk.  Liquidity risk is defined as the risk when the maturity of assets and liabilities does not 
match. The Bank is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from current accounts, 
maturing deposits, loan draw downs and guarantees.  The liquidity risk is managed by the 
Management of the Bank.  

The table below shows assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2006 and 2005 by their remaining 
contractual maturity. Some of the assets however, may be of a longer term nature; for example loans 
are frequently renewed and accordingly short term loans can have longer term duration.

The maturity analysis of loans to customers is based on the final maturity dates of the credit 
agreements rather than the interim remaining maturity dates, which effects the net liquidity position as 
it understates the amount to be recovered in the early stages of the loans for the amount of instalments 
to be received on a monthly basis. This is due to a system limitation, which does not enable the Bank 
to have maturity information based on the interim remaining maturity dates. The effect on the maturity 
information cannot be measured.

 Demand and less  From 1 to 3  From 3 to 12 More than 12      
                                                       than 1 month  months months months No maturity Total

Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents and        

  mandatory liquidity reserve              46,761 - - - - 46,761

Due from other banks 33,401 19,363 49,007 673 - 102,444

Loans and advances to customers 9,838 10,898 42,681 158,626 - 222,043

Other assets 58 452 21 - 152 683
Leasehold improvements, equipment        

  and intangible assets - - - - 4,154 4,154

Deferred tax asset - - - - 268 268

Total assets 90,058 30,713 91,709 159,299 4,574 376,353

Liabilities  

Customer accounts 141,526 55,394 101,570 11,524 - 310,014

Borrowings  160 - 1,025 16,493 - 17,678

Other liabilities 1,295 1,639 - - 152 3,086

Corporate profit tax payable 1,180 - - - - 1,180

Total liabilities 144,161 57,033 102,595 28,017 152 331,958

 

Net balance sheet position at         
  31 December 2006 (54,103) (26,320) (10,886) 131,282 4,422 44,395

Net balance sheet position at        
  31 December 2005 (23,074) (35,185) (24,407) 102,493 3,613 23,440
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Overdue assets are fully provided against, and thus, have no impact on the above table. Mandatory 
liquidity reserves are included within demand and less than one month as the majority of liabilities to 
which this balance relates to are also included within this category.

The matching and/or controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and 
liabilities is fundamental to the management of the Bank. It is unusual for banks ever to be completely 
matched since business transacted is often of an uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched 
position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. The maturities 
of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace interest-bearing liabilities as they mature at an 
acceptable cost, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Bank and its exposure to 
changes in interest and exchange rates.

The Bank has a significant maturity mismatch of the assets and liabilities maturing within one year.  
This liquidity mismatch arises due to the fact that the major source of finance for the Bank as at 31 
December 2006 was customer accounts being on demand and maturing in less than one month and 
due to system limitations to account for maturity based on the loan instalments. Management believes 
that in spite of a substantial portion of customers accounts being on demand diversification of these 
deposits by number and type of depositors would indicate that these customers’ accounts provide a 
long-term and stable source of funding for the Bank. 

The Bank has improved the net position though other sources of funding, which provide middle-
term finance and intend to continue matching assets vs. liability maturity in the periods to come. In 
addition, the Bank has an unused Credit Facility Agreement, which will support in case of liquidity 
needs.

The total outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements, since many of these commitments will expire or terminate without 
being funded.  

Interest rate risk. The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of 
market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result 
of such changes but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.  

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk, principally as a result of lending at fixed interest rates, in 
amounts and for periods, which differ from those of term deposits at fixed interest rates. In practice 
interest rates are generally fixed on a short-term basis. Management sets limits on the level of 
mismatch of interest rate re-pricing that may be undertaken. Under the interest rate SWAP contracts, 
the Bank agrees to exchange the difference between the fixed and floating rate interest amount 
calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Cash in hand and balances with BPK on which no 
interest is paid are included in the “non-interest bearing” column in the below table as well as non-
interest bearing deposits of customers. 
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The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the 
Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing 
or maturity dates.

 Demand and less  From 1 to 3  From 3 to 12 More than 12  Non-interest    
                                                       than 1 month  months months months bearing Total

Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents and        

   mandatory liquidity reserve 443 - - - 46,318 46,761
Due from other banks 33,401 19,363  49,007 673 - 102,444
Loans and advances to customers 9,838 10,898 42,681 158,626 - 222,043
Other assets - - - - 683 683
Leasehold improvements,        

   equipment and intangible assets - - - - 4,154 4,154
Deferred tax asset - - - - 268 268
Total assets 43,682 30,261 91,688 159,299 51,423 376,353

Liabilities  
Customer accounts 24,589 55,394 101,570 11,524 116,937 310,014
Borrowings  - - 1,025 16,493 160 17,678
Other liabilities - - - - 3,246 3,246
Corporate profit tax payable - - - - 1,180 1,180
Total liabilities 24,589 55,394 102,595 28,017 121,523 332,118

Net balance sheet position at         
  31 December 2006 19,093 (25,133) (10,907) 131,282 (70,100) 44,235

Net balance sheet position at        
  31 December 2005 48,529 (34,998) (23,692) 103,399 (69,798) 23,440

http://www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com


Supervisory Board      Management Board      Organisational Structure      Vision and Mission      RZB and RI      .

Financial Statements

��www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com      Glossary      Macroeconomic Environment      Overview      Segment Reports      Financial Statements      Addresses

In percentage                                   31 December 2006               31 December 2005     
 EUR USD CHF GBP EUR USD CHF GBP

Assets      

Placements on call          
   with other banks 2.9 5.0 1.5 N/a 2.3 4.3 N/a N/a

Term deposits with          
   other banks 3.1 4.9 N/a N/a 2.4 4.0 N/a N/a

Loans and advances          
   to customers 14.8 N/a N/a N/a 15.3 N/a N/a N/a

        

Liabilities        

Customer accounts        

Term deposits 3.4 1.6 0.7 3.4 3.0 1.3 0.8         3.7

Savings accounts 1.7 0.3 0.3 0.3 1.7 0.5 N/a N/a

The table below summarises the effective interest rates by major currencies for major monetary 
financial instruments. The analysis has been prepared using year end effective rates.

21. Contingencies and Commitments
Legal proceedings. From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Bank 
are received. As at 31 December 2006 the Bank had no legal claims against it that were not 
both minor and in the ordinary course of business. On the basis of internal and external advice, 
Management is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred and accordingly no provision 
has been made in these financial statements.

Tax regulations. As disclosed in Note 2, the legal and regulatory framework in Kosovo is currently 
at an early stage of development. The Regulation on Profit Taxes in Kosovo was passed on 20 
February 2002 and an improved version was presented in December 2004, and as such there 
is no established practice of tax assessments and there is no formal guidance as to how specific 
rules should be applied in practice. Due to the presence in Kosovo’s commercial regulations (and 
tax regulations in particular), of provisions allowing more than one interpretation, Management’s 
judgement of the Bank’s business activities may not coincide with the interpretation of the same 
activities by tax authorities.

Capital commitments. As at 31 December 2006 the Bank has no capital commitments in respect of 
the purchase of equipment and software (31 December 2005: Nil).  
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Operating lease commitments. The future minimum lease payments under non cancellable operating 
leases, where the Bank is the lessee, are as follows:

Credit related commitments. The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are 
available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent 
irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet 
its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial 
letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a 
third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, 
are collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate or cash deposits and 
therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.

Commitments to make loans at a specific rate of interest during a fixed period of time are accounted 
for as derivatives. Unless these commitments do not extend beyond the period expected to be needed 
to perform appropriate underwriting, they are considered to be “regular way” transactions. 

Outstanding credit related commitments are as follows:

Movements in the provision for losses on commitments and contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 
12.

Commitments to extend credit represent loan amounts in which the loan documentation has been 
signed but the money not yet disbursed and unused amounts of overdraft limits in respect of customer 
accounts. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed 
to losses in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is 
less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon 
customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit 
related commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk 
than shorter-term commitments.

   31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Commitments to extend credit 23,743  25,645

Guarantees and similar commitments issued (credit facility) 11,946  8,528

Guarantees and similar commitments issued (cash covered) 2,252  699

Letters of credit (credit facility) 1,607  538

Letters of credit (cash covered)  -  132

TF line of credit 1,923  953

Letters of comfort 500  1,410

Total credit related commitments  41,971  37,905

   31 December 2006  31 December 2005

Not more than 1 year 1,079  688

More than 1 year and not more than 5 years 2,468  1,193

Total operating lease commitments  3,547  1,881
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   2006  2005 
    Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value

Assets

Due from other banks  102,444 102,444 64,582 64,582

Loan and advances to customers 222,043 222,043 164,509 164,509

    

Liabilities

Customer accounts  310,014 310,014 231,356 231,356

Borrowings  17,678 17,678 5,695 5,695

The total outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend credit and guarantees does not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate 
without being funded.

Interest Rate SWAPs. The main purpose of these instruments is to mitigate the interest rate risk 
associated to the fixed rate lending. As of December 31, 2006, the Bank has five interest rate 
SWAPs with a notional amount of EUR 16 million (December 31, 2005: nil). The Bank pays fix and 
receives variable interest rates. 

Other disclosures. As at December 31, 2006, the Bank has approved, but not disbursed loans and 
overdrafts amounting to approximately EUR 33 million (December 31, 2005: 17 million), while the 
Trade Finance approved cases amounted to approximately EUR 9 million (December 31, 2005: EUR 
6 million). 

22. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by a quoted 
market price.

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Bank using available 
market information, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However judgement 
is necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value. As described in 
more detail in Note 2 the economy of Kosovo represents an emerging market. The political structure, 
regulatory and legal framework is currently under development. The volume of activity in financial 
markets is insignificant. While Management has used available market information in estimating the 
fair value of financial instruments, the market information may not be fully reflective of the value that 
could be realised in the current circumstances. 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments
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23. Related Party Transactions

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related if one party has 
the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial or operational decisions as defined by IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. In considering 
each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not 
merely the legal form.

Banking transactions are entered into in the normal course of business with significant shareholders, 
directors, companies with which the Bank has significant shareholders in common and other related 
parties. These transactions include settlements, placements, deposit taking and foreign currency 
transactions. These transactions are priced at market rates. The outstanding balances at the year end 
and related income and expense items during the year with related parties are as follows: 
 

    31 December 2006  31 December 2005 
  Parent Other related party Parent Other related party

Balance Sheet    

Cash and cash equivalents and       

   mandatory reserve  5,424 - 3,634 -

Due from other banks   101,771 - 64,115 -

Other assets  14 - - -

      

  Liabilities     

Customer accounts  - 110 - -

Borrowings  - 3,866 - 1,004

Other liabilities  180 - 16 5

      

  Income Statement     

Interest income  2,611 - 936 -

Interest expense  - (355) - (1)

  

Fee and commission expense  (65) - (206) (2)

      

 

Other operating expenses   (2,372) - (2,894) (253)

      

Purchase of intangible assets  348 - - 187
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The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the Raiffeisen International 
management having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends. The Managing 
Board related expense for 2006 amounted to EUR 421 thousand (2005: EUR 465 thousand).
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Pristina Branch
Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo J.S.C. 
Head Office
UCK Street No. 51
10000 Pristina
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 142
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 11 25 
E-mail: info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com 

Corporate Office
Eqrem Çabej Street, No. 8
10000 Pristina
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 412
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 11 27 
E-mail: info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Fushe Kosova Sub-Branch
Nena Tereze Street, No. 80
12000 Fushe Kosova 
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 470
Fax: +381 (0)38 535 226
E-mail: fushekosove-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Gllogovc Sub-Branch
Skenderbeu Street, n.n.
13000 Gllogovc
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 460
Fax: +381 (0)38 585 099
E-mail: gllogovc-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Gracanica Sub-Branch
Main Street n.n., Gracanica
Phone: +381 (0)63 864 8897
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 395 
E-mail: gracanica-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Lipjan Sub-Branch
Shqiperia Street, n.n.
14000 Lipjan
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 441
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 70
E-mail: lipjan-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Podujeva Sub-Branch
Zahir Pajaziti Street,, n.n.
11000 Podujeva
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 430
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 60
E-mail: podujeva-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Pristina “Bill Clinton”   
Sub-Branch
Bill Clinton Boulevard, n.n.
10000 Pristina
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 401
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 40
E-mail: info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Pristina “Sunny Hill”   
Sub-Branch
Gazmend Zajmi Street, n.n., Bregu i Diellit
10000 Pristina
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 421
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 45
E-mail: info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

UNMIK Sub-Branch
UNMIK Administration HQ
10000 Prishtina 
Phone: +381 (0)38 504 604 ext. 2655
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 05
E-mail: info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Ferizaj Branch
Deshmoret e Kombit Street, No. 39
70000 Ferizaj
Phone: +381 (0)290 27 108
Fax: +381 (0)38 502 179
E-mail: ferizaj-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Hani i Elezit Sub-Branch
KAP “Sharr-Salloniti”, n.n.
71510 Hani i Elezit
Phone: +381 (0)38 502 607 
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 50
E-mail: haniielezit-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Kacanik Sub-Branch
Agim Bajrami Street, n.n.
71000 Kacanik
Phone: +381 (0)38 502 446
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 15
E-mail: kacanik-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Shtime Sub-Branch
Prishtina Street, n.n.
72000 Shtime
Phone: +381 (0)38 590 496
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 301 490
E-mail: stime-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Strpce Sub-Branch
Main Street, n.n.
Phone: +381 (0)63 410 499
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 25
E-mail: strpce-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Gjakova Branch
Nena Tereza No. 328
50000 Gjakovë
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 328
Fax: +381 (0)38 502 130
E-mail: gjakova-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Rahovec Sub-Branch
Xhelal Hajda (Toni Mici)
21010 Rahovec
Phone: +381 (0)29 77 944 
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 301 435
E-mail: rahovec-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Gjilan Branch
Bulevardi i Pavaresise, n.n. 
60000 Gjilan
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 756
Fax: +381 (0)38 502 252
E-mail: gjilan-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Kamenica Sub-Branch
Tringe Ismajli Street, No.12/a 
62000 Kamenica
Phone: +381 (0)280 71 131 
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 301 420
E-mail: kamenica-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Vitia Sub-Branch
Adem Jashari Street, n.n.
61000 Vitia
Phone: +381 (0)280 81 316
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 301 455
E-mail: vitia-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Mitrovica Branch
Ali Pashe Tepelena Street, n.n.
40000 Mitrovica
Phone: +381 (0)28 31 003
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 301 360
E-mail: mitrovica-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Addresses and Contacts

Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo Branch Network
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Skenderaj Sub-Branch
Adem Jashari Square, n.n.
41000 Skenderaj
Phone: +381 (0)38 502 662
Fax: +381 (0)28 82 153
E-mail: skenderaj-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Vushtrri Sub-Branch
Deshmoret e Kombit Street, n.n. 
42000 Vushtrri
Phone: +381 (0)28 71 322
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 00
E-mail: vushtrri-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

North Mitrovica Branch
Kralja Petra I, n.n. 
Phone: +381 (0)28 425 500
Fax: +381 (0)38 425 502
E-mail: nmitrovica-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Peja Branch
Haxhi Zeka Square
30000 Peja
Phone: +381 (0)39 32 896
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 13 75
E-mail: peja-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Decan Sub-Branch
Luan Haradinaj Street, n.n.
51000 Decan
Phone: +381 (0)38 502 699
Fax: +381 (0)38 502 699
E-mail: decan-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Istog Sub-Branch
Skenderbeu Street, n.n.
31000 Istog
Phone: +381 (0)39 51 360
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 65
E-mail: istogu-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Klina Sub-Branch
Muje Krasniqi, n.n.
32000 Klina
Phone: +381 (0)39 71 462
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 75
E-mail: klina-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Prizren Branch
Nena Tereze, No. 7
20000 Prizren
Phone: +381 (0)38 222 222 ext. 502
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 301 330
E-mail: prizren-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Prizren Sub-Branch
Shadervani Square, No. 38
20000 Prizren
Phone: +381 (0)29 630 103
Fax: +381 (0)29 630 103
E-mail: prizren-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Malisheva Sub-Branch
Rilindja Kombetare Street, n.n.
24000 Malisheva
Phone: +381 (0)38 569 016
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 10
E-mail: malisheva-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com

Suhareka Sub-Branch
Brigada 123 Street, n.n.
23000 Suhareka
Phone: +381 (0)29 72 520
Fax: +381 (0)38 20 30 14 30
E-mail: suhareka-info@raiffeisen-kosovo.com
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Austria

Am Stadtpark 9, 1030 Vienna
Phone: +43-1-71 707-0
Fax: +43-1-71 707-1715
www.ri.co.at
investor.relations@ri.co.at
ri-communications@ri.co.at

Raiffeisen International Bank-Holding AG

Banking Network in Central and Eastern Europe

Albania
Raiffeisen Bank Sh.a. 

European Trade Center, Bulevardi 
“Bajram Curri”, Tirana 
Phone: +355-4-274 912 
Fax: +355-4-230 013 
SWIFT/BIC: SGSBALTX 
www.raiffeisen.al 
Contact: Steven Grunerud 
steven.grunerud@raiffeisen.al

Belarus
Priorbank, JSC

31–A, V. Khoruzhey Str.
Minsk, 220002
Phone: +375-17-289 9087
Fax: +375-17-289 9191
SWIFT/BIC: PJCBBY2X
www.priorbank.by
Contact: Olga Gelakhova
olga.gelakhova@priorbank.by

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina 
Raiffeisen Bank d.d. 

Bosna i Hercegovina 
Danijela Ozme 3
71000 Sarajevo 
Phone: +387-33-287 100 
Fax: +387-33-213 851 
SWIFT/BIC: RZBABA2S 
www.raiffeisenbank.ba 
Contact: Michael G. Mueller
michael.mueller@rbb-sarajevo.
raiffeisen.at 
 
Bulgaria
Raiffeisenbank (Bulgaria) EAD 

18/20 Ulica N. Gogol
1504 Sofia 
Phone: +359-2-9198 5101 
Fax: +359-2-943 4528 
SWIFT/BIC: RZBBBGSF 
www.rbb.bg 
Contact: Momtchil Andreev 
momtchil.andreev@rbb-sofia.
raiffeisen.at

Croatia
Raiffeisenbank Austria d.d. 

Petrinjska 59, 10000 Zagreb 
Phone: +385-1-456 6466 
Fax: +385-1-481 1624 
SWIFT/BIC: RZBHHR2X 
www.rba.hr 
Contact: Vesna Ciganek-Vukovic
vesna.ciganek-vukovic@rba.hr

Czech Republic
Raiffeisenbank a.s. 

Olbrachtova 2006/9 
140 21 Praha 4 
Phone: +420-221-141 111
Fax: +420-221-142 111 
SWIFT/BIC: RZBCCZPP 
www.rb.cz 
Contact: Lubor Žalman 
lubor.zalman@rb.cz

eBanka, a.s.

Na Příkopě 19
11719 Praha 1 
Phone: +420-222-115 222 
Fax: +420-222-115 500 
SWIFT/BIC: EBNKCZPP 
www.ebanka.cz 
Contact: Pavla Pasekova
ppasekova@ebanka.cz

Hungary
Raiffeisen Bank Zrt.

Akadémia útca 6
1054 Budapest
Phone: +36-1-484 4400
Fax: +36-1-484 4444
SWIFT/BIC: UBRTHUHB
www.raiffeisen.hu
Contact: Frank Daniel
frank.daniel@raiffeisen.hu

Kosovo 
Raiffeisen Bank Kosovo J.S.C. 

Rruga UÇK 51, Prishtina 
Phone: +381-38-222 222 
Fax: +381-38-2030 1130 
SWIFT/BIC: RBKOCS22 
www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com 
Contact: Oliver Whittle 
oliver.whittle@raiffeisen-kosovo.com 

Poland 
Raiffeisen Bank Polska S.A. 

Ul. Piękna 20
00-549 Warszawa 
Phone: +48-22-585 2000 
Fax: +48-22-585 2585 
SWIFT/BIC: RCBWPLPW 
www.raiffeisen.pl 
Contact: Piotr Czarnecki 
piotr.czarnecki@raiffeisen.pl

Romania
Raiffeisen Bank S.A.

Piaţa Charles de Gaulle 15
011857 Bucureşti 3
Phone: +40-21-306 1000
Fax: +40-21-230 0700
SWIFT/BIC: RZBRROBU
www.raiffeisen.ro
Contact: Steven C. van Groningen
centrala@raiffeisen.ro
 
Russia
ZAO Raiffeisenbank Austria 

Troitskaya Ul. 17/1 
129090 Moskwa 
Phone: +7-495-721 9900 
Fax: +7-495-721 9901 
SWIFT/BIC: RZBMRUMM 
www.raiffeisen.ru 
Contact: Johann Jonach 
jjonach@raiffeisen.ru

OAO Impexbank 

Novopeschanaya Ul. 20/10 
125252 Moskwa 
Phone: +7-495-258 3219 
Fax: +7-495-248 1370 
SWIFT/BIC: IMPERUMM 
www.impexbank.ru 
Contact: Pavel Lysenko
pavel.lysenko@impexbank.ru

Serbia
Raiffeisen banka a.d. 

Bulevar AVNOJ-a 64a 
11070 Novi Beograd 
Tel: +381-11-320 2100 
Fax: -+381-11-220 7080 
SWIFT/BIC: RZBSRSBG
www.raiffeisenbank.co.yu 
Contact: Oliver Rögl 
oliver.roegl@raiffeisenbank.co.yu 

Slovakia
Tatra banka, a.s. 

Hodžovo námestie 3 
811 06 Bratislava 1 
Phone: +421-2-5919 1111 
Fax: +421-2-5919 1110 
SWIFT/BIC: TATRSKBX 
www.tatrabanka.sk 
Contact: Rainer Franz 
rainer_franz@tatrabanka.sk

Slovenia
Raiffeisen Krekova banka d.d. 

18 Slomškov trg, 2000 Maribor 
Phone: +386-2.229 3100 
Fax: +386-2-252 4779 
SWIFT/BIC: KREKSI22 
www.r-kb.si 
Contact: Klemens Nowotny
klemens.nowotny@r-kb.si 
 
Ukraine
BAT Raiffeisen Bank Aval 

9, Leskova vul., 01011 Kyiv 
Phone: +38-044-490 88 88 
Fax: +38-044-295 32 31 
SWIFT/BIC: AVAL UA UK 
www.aval.ua 
Contact: Angela Prigozhina
angela.prigozhina@aval.ua
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Leasing

Austria
Raiffeisen-Leasing

International GmbH

Am Stadtpark 9, 1030 Vienna
Phone: +-43-1-71 707 2966
Fax: + 43-1-71 707 2059
Contact: Dieter Scheidl 
dieter.scheidl@rli.co.at 

Albania
Raiffeisen Leasing Sh.A.

Rruga Kavajes 44
Tirana
Phone: +355-4-274 920
Fax: +355-4-232 524
Contact: Majlinda Hakani
majlinda.hakani@raiffeisen.al

Belarus
SOOO Raiffeisen Leasing

31A, V. Khoruzhey, 3rd floor
220002 Minsk
Phone: +375-17 289 9396
Fax: +375-17 289 9394
Contact: Maksim Lisicky
maksim.lisicky@priorbank.by

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina
Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o.

Sarajevo

St. Branilaca Sarajeva No. 20
71000 Sarajevo
Phone: +387-33-254 340
Fax: +387-33-212 273
www.rlbh.ba
Contact: Belma Sekavic-Bandic
belma.sekavic@rbb-sarajevo.
raiffeisen.at
 

Bulgaria
Raiffeisen Leasing 

Bulgaria OOD

Business Park Sofia
Building 11, 2nd  floor
1715 Sofia
Phone: +359-2-970 7979
Fax: +359-2-974 2057
www.rlbg.bg
Contact: Ekaterina Hristova
ekaterina.hristova@rbb-sofia.
raiffeisen.at

Croatia
Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o.

Radnicka cesta 43
10 000 Zagreb
Phone: -+385-1-6595 000
Fax: +385-1-6595 050
www.rl-hr.hr
Contact: Miljenko Tumpa
miljenko.tumpa@rl-hr.hr

Czech Republic
Raiffeisen-Leasing s.r.o.

Olbrachtova 2006/9
14021 Praha 4
Phone: +420-221-51 1611
Fax: +420-221-51 1666
Contact: Rastislav Kereskeni
rastislav.kereskeni@rl.cz www.rl.cz

Hungary
Raiffeisen Lízing Zrt.

Váci útca 81-85
1139 Budapest
Phone: +36-1-298 8200
Fax: +36-1-298 8010
www.raiffeisenlizing.hu
Contact: Pál Antall
pal.antall@raiffeisen.hu

Kazakhstan
Raiffeisen Leasing 

Kazakhstan LLP
146, Shevchenko str.
Office 12, 1st floor
050008 Almaty
Phone: +7-327-2709 836
Fax: +7-327-2709 831
Contact: Uwe Fisker
uwe.fisker@rlkz.kz
 

Poland
Raiffeisen-Leasing Polska S.A.

Ul. Jana Pawla II 78
00175 Warszawa
Phone: +48-22-562 3700
Fax: +48-22-562 3701
www.rl.com.pl
Contact: Arkadiusz Etryk
arkadiusz.etryk@raiffeisen.pl

Romania
Raiffeisen Leasing IFN SA

Calea 13 Septembrie 90
Grand Offices 
Marriott Grand Hotel
Sector 5 
76122 Bucureşti
Phone: +40-21 403 3300
Fax: +40-21-403 3298
www.raiffeisen-leasing.ro
Contact: Robert Pintelie
robert.pintelie@raiffeisen-leasing.ro

Russia
OOO Raiffeisen Leasing

Nikoloyamskaya 13/2
109240 Moskwa
Phone: +7-495-721 9980
Fax: +7-495-721 9901
www.rlru.ru
Contact: Galina Kostyleva
gkostyleva@raiffeisen.ru

Serbia
Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o.

Bulevar AVNOJ-a 45a
11000 Beograd
Phone: +381-11-201 77 00
Fax: +381-11-313 0081
www.raiffeisen-leasing.co.yu
Contact: Ralph Zeitlberger
ralph.zeitlberger@raiffeisen-
leasing.co.yu

Slovakia
Tatra Leasing s.r.o.

Továrenská 10
81109 Bratislava
Phone: +421-2-5919 3168
Fax: +421-2-5919 3048
www.tatraleasing.sk
Contact: Igor Horváth
igor_horvath@tatrabanka.sk

Slovenia
Raiffeisen Leasing d.o.o.

Tivolska 30 (Center Tivoli)
1000 Ljubljana
Phone: +386-1-241 6250
Fax: +386-1-241 6268
www.rl-sl.si
Contact: Borut Božič
borut.bozic@raiffeisen-leasing.si

Ukraine
TOV Raiffeisen Leasing Aval

Lesi Ukrainki Ave. 28-A
01188 Kyiv
Phone: +38-044-490 8842
Fax: +38-044-490 8700
Contact: Peter Oberauer
peter.oberauer@aval.ua

Real-estate leasing

Czech Republic
Raiffeisen Leasing 

Real Estate s.r.o.

Olbrachtova 2006/9
14021 Praha 4
Phone: +420-221-511 608
Fax: +420-221-511 641
www.rlre.cz
Contact: Alois Lanegger 
alois.lanegger@rl.cz

Hungary
Raiffeisen Inglatan Rt.

Akadémia utca 6
1054 Budapest
Phone: +36-1-484 8400
Fax: +36-1-484 8404
www.raiffeiseninglatan.hu
Contact: László Vancskó
lvancsko@raiffeisen.hu
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Investment Banking

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina
Raiffeisen Bank d.d.

Bosna i Hercegovina
Danijela Ozme 3
71000 Sarajevo
Phone: +387-33-287 100 
Fax: +387-33-213 851
www.raiffeisenbank.ba
Contact: Dragomir Grgiæ
dragomir.grgic@rbb-sarajevo.
raiffeisen.at
 
Bulgaria
Raiffeisen Asset Management 

EAD 

18/20 Ulica N. Gogol
1504 Sofia 
Phone: +359-2-919 85 451
Fax: +359-2-943 4528 
www.rbb.bg 
Contact: Ivailo Grigorov
ivailo.grigorov@rbb-sofia.raiffeisen.
at

Croatia
Raiffeisenbank Austria d.d. 

Petrinjska 59, 10000 Zagreb 
Phone: +385-1-456 6466 
Fax: +385-1-456 6490 
www.rba.hr 
Contact: Ivan Žižic 
ivan.zizic@rba.hr

Czech Republic
Raiffeisenbank a.s. 

Olbrachtova 2006/9 
140 21 Praha 4 
Phone: +420-221-141 863 
Fax: +420-221-143 804 
www.rb.cz 
Contact: Martin Bláha 
martin.blaha@rb.cz

Hungary
Raiffeisen Bank Zrt.

Akadémia útca 6
1054 Budapest
Phone: +36-1-484 4400
Fax: +36-1-484 4444
www.raiffeisen.hu
Contact: Gábor Liener
gliener@raiffeisen.hu

Poland
Raiffeisen Investment Polska 

Sp.z o.o.

Ul. Piękna 20
00-549 Warszawa 
Phone: +48-22-585 2900 
Fax: +48-22-585 2901 
Contact: Marzena Bielecka 
marzena.bielecka@ripolska.com.pl

Romania
Raiffeisen Capital & Investment 

S.A.

Piata Charles de Gaulle 15
011857 Bucuresti 1
Phone: +40-21-306 1233
Fax: +40-21-230 0684
www.rciro.ro
Contact: Dana Mirela Ionescu
dana-mirela.ionescu@rzb.ro
 
Russia
ZAO Raiffeisenbank Austria 

Troitskaya Ul. 17/1 
129090 Moskwa 
Phone: +7-495-721 9900 
Fax: +7-495-721 9901 
www.raiffeisen.ru 
Contact: Pavel Gourine 
pgourine@raiffeisen.ru

Serbia 
Raiffeisen Investment AG

Bulevar AVNOJ-a 64a 
11070 Novi Beograd 
Phone: +381-11-212 9220
Fax: +381-11-212 9213 
Contact: Radoš Ilinčić
r.ilincic@riag.co.yu 

Slovakia
Tatra banka, a.s. 

Hodžovo námestie 3 
811 06 Bratislava 1 
Phone: +421-2-5919 1111 
Fax: +421-2-5919 1110 
www.tatrabanka.sk 
Contact: Igor Vida 
igor_vida@tatrabanka.sk

Slovenia
Raiffeisen Krekova banka d.d. 

Slomškov trg 18, 2000 Maribor 
Phone: +386-2-229 3111 
Fax: +386-2-252 5518 
www.r-kb.si 
Contact: Gvido Jemenšek 
gvido.jemensek@r-kb.si

Ukraine
Raiffeisen Investment TOV 

43, Zhylyanska Str., 01033 Kyiv 
Phone: +38-044-490 6898 
Fax: +38-044-490 6899 
Contact: Vyacheslav Yakymuk 
yakymuk@rio.kiev.ua 

Raiffeisen 
Zentralbank 
Österreich AG

Austria (Head Office)
Am Stadtpark 9, 1030 Vienna
Phone: +43-1-71 707-0
Fax: +43-1-71 707 1715
SWIFT/BIC RZBAATWW
www.rzb.at

China
Beijing Branch

Beijing International Club,
Suite 200
21, Jianguomenwai Dajie
100020 Beijing
Phone: +86-10-6532 3388
Fax: +86-10-6532 5926
SWIFT/BIC: RZBACNBJ
Contact: Andreas Werner 
andreas.werner@cn.rzb.at

Malta
Raiffeisen Malta Bank plc

52, Il-Piazzetta, Tower Road,
Sliema SLM16, Malta
Phone: +356-2260 0000
Fax: +356-2132 0954
Contact: Anthony C. Schembri
anthony.schembri@rmb-malta.
raiffeisen.at

Singapore
Singapore Branch

One Raffles Quay
#38-01 North Tower
Phone: +65-6305 6000
Fax +65-6305 6001
Contact: Rainer Šilhavý
rainer.silhavy@sg.rzb.at 

United Kingdom
London Branch

10, King William Street
London EC4N 7TW
Phone: +44-20-7933 8000
Fax: +44-20-7933 8099
SWIFT/BIC: RZBAGB2L
www.london.rzb.at
Contact: Ian Burns
ian.burns@uk.rzb.at

U.S.A.
RZB Finance LLC

1133, Avenue of the Americas
16th floor, New York
N.Y. 10036
Phone: +1-212-45 4100
Fax: +1-212-944 2093
www.rzbfinance.com
Contact: Dieter Beintrexler
dbeintrexler@rzbfinance.com

Representative 
offices 
in Europe

Belgium
Brussels

Rue du Commerce 20–22
1000 Bruxelles
Phone: +32-2-549 0678
Fax: +32-2-502 6407
Contact: Helga Steinberger
raiffbxl@raiffeisenbrussels.be

Germany
Frankfurt am Main

Mainzer Landstrasse 51
D-60329 Frankfurt am Main
Phone: +49-69-29 92 19-18
Fax: +49-69-29 92 19-22
Contact: Dorothea Renninger
dorothea.renninger@rzb.at

France
Paris

9–11, Avenue Franklin Roosevelt
75008 Paris
Phone: +33-1-4561 2700
Fax: +33-1-4561 1606
Contact: Harald Stoffaneller
harald.stoffaneller@fr.rzb.at

Italy
Mailand

Via Andrea Costa 2
20131 Milano
Phone: +39-02-2804 0646
Fax: +39-02-2804 0658
www.rzb.it
Contact: Maurizio Uggeri
maurizio.uggeri@it.rzb.at

Lithuania
Vilnius (Raiffeisen Bank Polska S.A.)
A. Jaksto Street 12, 01105 Vilnius
Phone: +370-5-266 6600
Fax: +370-5-266 6601
www.raiffeisen.lt
Contact: Vladislovas Jancis
vladislovas.jancis@raiffeisen.pl

Moldova
Chisinau (Raiffeisen Bank S.A.)

65 Stefan cel Mare blvd.
Chişinãu, MD-2001
Phone: +373-22-279 331
Fax: +373-22-279 343
Contact: Victor Bodiu
victor.bodiu@rzb.md

http://www.raiffeisen-kosovo.com
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Russia
Moskau

14, Pretchistensky Pereulok
Building 1, 119034 Moskwa
Phone: +7-495-721 9903
Fax: +7-495-721 9907
www.raiffeisen.ru
Contact: Evgheny Rabovsky
erabovsky@raiffeisen.ru

Sweden/Nordic 
Countries
Stockholm

Engelbrektsgatan 7
11432 Stockholm
Phone: +46-8-4405086
Fax: +46-8-4405089
Contact: Lars Bergström
lars.bergstrom@rzb.at

Representative 
offices in America 
and Asia

U.S.A.
Chicago (RZB Finance LLC)

10 N. Martingale Road
Suite 400
Schaumburg, IL 60173
Phone: +1-847-466 1043
Fax: +1-847-466 1295
Contact: Charles T. Hiatt
chiatt@rzbfinance.com

Houston (RZB Finance LLC)

10777, Westheimer, Suite 1100
Houston, TX 77042
Phone: +1-713-260 9697
Fax: +1-713-260 9602
Contact: Stephen A. Plauche
splauche@rzbfinance.com

New York

1133, Avenue of the Americas
16th floor, New York, NY 10036
Phone: +1-212-593 7593
Fax: +1-212-593 9870
Contact: Dieter Beintrexler
dieter.beintrexler@rzb-newyork.
raiffeisen.at

China
Hong Kong

Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway
Unit 2001, 20th Floor, Tower 1
Hong Kong
Phone: +85-2-2730 2112
Fax: +85-2-2730 6028
Contact: Edmond Wong
edmond.wong@hk.rzb.at

Zhuhai

Room 2404, Yue Cai Building
188, Jingshan Road, Jida
519015 Zhuhai
Tel: +86-756-323 3500
or 323 3055
Fax: +86-756-323 3321
Contact: Susanne Zhang-Pongratz
susanne.zhang@cn.rzb.at

India
Mumbai

87, Maker Chamber VI
Nariman Point
Mumbai 400 021
Phone: +91-22-663 01700
Fax: +91-22-663 21982
Contact: Anupam Johri
anupam.johri@in.rzb.at

Iran
Tehran (UNICO Banking Group)

Vanak, North Shirazi Avenue
16, Ladan Str., 19917 Tehran
Phone: +98-21-804 6767-2
Fax: +98-21-803 6788
Contact: Gerd Wolf
unico@sayareh.com

South Korea
Seoul

Leema Building, 8th floor
146-1, Soosong-dong
Chongro-ku, 110-755 Seoul
Phone: +822-398 5840
Fax: +822-398 5807
Contact: Kun II Chung
kun-il.chung@kr.rzb.at

Vietnam
Ho Chi Minh City

6, Phung Khac Khoan Str., Dis-
trict1, Room G6
Ho Chi Minh City
Phone: +84-8-8297 934
Fax: +84-8-8221 318
Contact: Ta Thi Kim Thanh
ta-thi-kim.thanh@vn.rzb.at

 

Investment Banking

Austria
Raiffeisen Zentralbank 

Österreich AG

Global	Markets	
Am Stadtpark 9, 1030 Vienna
Phone: +43-1-71 707-1120
Fax: +43-1-71 707-3813
www.rzb.at
Contact: Martin Czurda
martin.czurda@rzb.at

Raiffeisen Centrobank AG

Equity
Tegetthoffstraße 1, 1015 Vienna
SWIFT/BIC: CENBATWW
Phone: +43-1-51 520-0
Fax: +43-1-513 4396
www.rcb.at
Contact: Eva Marchart
marchart@rcb.at

Raiffeisen Investment AG

Advisory
Tegetthoffstraße 1, 1015 Wien
Phone: +43-1-710 5400-0
Fax: +43-1-710 5400-39
www.raiffeisen-investment.com
Contact: Heinz Sernetz
h.sernetz@raiffeisen-investment.com

Subsidiaries and representative 
offices in Banja Luka, Belgrade, 
Bucharest, Budapest, Istanbul, Kiev, 
Moscow, Podgorica, Pra-gue, Sofia 
and Warsaw.
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